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The Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and 

The Civil Service Association of Western Australia 
 
 
 

Annual General Meeting 
 

Wednesday, 29th September 2021 at 4:00pm 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 
 
 
1. Apologies & Attendance 
 

Proposed Resolution 
“The apologies and observers be accepted.” 

 
 
 
2. Minutes of Previous Annual General Meetings - 30th September 2020 
 

2.1 Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and Civil Service Association 
of Western Australia (Inc) 

 
Proposed Resolution 
“The minutes of the Annual General Meeting of 30th September 2020 be accepted as a true and correct 
record.” 

 
 
3. Financial Reports 2020/2021 
 

3.1 Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch General Purpose Financial 
Report 
 

Proposed Resolution 
“The CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch General Purpose Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 
2021 be adopted.” 

 
 

3.2 Civil Service Association of Western Australia (Inc)  
 
Proposed Resolution 
“The Civil Service Association of Western Australia (Inc) and its controlled entities Special Purpose 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2021 be adopted.” 
 
 



 

 
4. CPSU/CSA Annual Report of Activities 
 

4.1 Council’s Annual Report 2020/2021 
 

Proposed Resolution 
“The CPSU/CSA Branch Council’s Annual Report 2020-2021 be adopted.” 

 
 
5. Report of Branch Officer Movement 
 

5.1 CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch 2020/2021 
 
 
The report for noting  

 
 
6. Appointment of Auditors (Civil Service Association) 
 
 

Proposed Resolution 
“The CSA Annual General Meeting of members recommends that Walker Wayland be appointed to 
prepare the Civil Service Association of WA (Inc) annual statutory financial reports for years ending 30th 
June 2022 and 30th June 2023.” 

 
 
 
7. Life Membership – Civil Service Association WA 
 

8.1 Life Membership for Brian Dodds and Bruce Hawkins 
 

 
Proposed Resolution 
“Brian Dodds and Bruce Hawkins be awarded a Life Membership into the Civil Services Association.” 

 
 
8. General Business 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The CPSU, Community and Public Sector Union, SPSF Group, WA Branch and 
The Civil Service Association of Western Australia (Inc) 

 
 
 

Annual General Meetings 
 

Thursday, 30th September 2020 at 4:00pm 
6th floor, 445 Hay Street, Perth 

 
 

The President advised that there was a CPSU/CSA quorum present and opened the meeting at 
4:06pm.  The Chair opened the meeting by acknowledging the Whadjuk people, the traditional owners 
of the land on which the meeting was being held. 
 
1. ATTENDANCE 

Brian Dodds (President & Chair), Rikki Hendon (Branch Secretary), Melanie Bray 
(Branch Assistant Secretary) 
Quorum present 
 

 
OBSERVERS 

 Martin Shone, Auditor, AMW 
 
 
AGM 01/20 Moved Bruce Hawkins that: 

“The observer be accepted.” 
Seconded:  Becky Anderson 

CARRIED 
 
 
 
2. Minutes of Previous Annual General Meetings 
2.1 Civil Service Association of Western Australia (Inc) and CPSU SPSF Group WA 

Branch – 19th September 2019 
 
 
AGM 02/19 Moved Deb Stackpole that: 

“The minutes of the Annual General Meeting of 19th September 2019 be accepted as a 
true and correct record.” 
Seconded:  John Aggus 

CARRIED 
 
3. FINANCIAL REPORTS – Year Ending 30th June 2020 
 
 
3.1 Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch  
 

The Branch Secretary, Rikki Hendon spoke to the financial reports and provided 
rationale for the two sets of financial statements due to the two entities being registered 
organisations.   
 

 



 

 
AGM 03/20 Moved Sinead Glackin that: 

“The CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2020 
be adopted.” 
Seconded:  Stephen Jefferies 

CARRIED 
 
3. Civil Service Association of Western Australia (Inc)  
 
 
AGM 04/20 Moved Deb Stackpole that: 

“The Civil Service Association Incorporated and its controlled entities Financial Report 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 be adopted.” 
Seconded:  Becky Anderson 

CARRIED 
 
 
 
4. CPSU/CSA ANNUAL REPORT OF ACTIVITIES 
4.1 Council’s Annual Report 
 
 

The Branch Secretary, Rikki Hendon presented the CPSU/CSA Annual Report of 
activities of 2019/2020.  The report highlights activities the CPSU/CSA undertook 
throughout the year for members and delegates. 

 
AGM 05/20 Moved Bruce Hawkins that: 

“The CPSU/CSA Annual Report be adopted.” 
Seconded:  Haydon Falconer 

CARRIED 
 
5. REPORT AND ELECTION OF OFFICERS OR COUNCILLORS 
 

The President advised the report of Officer Holder Movement throughout 2019/2020. 
 
Report to be amended to include, Anette Bohn as Councillor for Communities. 

 
NOTED 

 
6. GENERAL BUSINESS 
 
6.1 Nil. 

NOTED  
 

There being no further business, the Chair declared the meeting closed at 4:23pm. 
 
 
 
 

 
CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch Secretary CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch President 
CSA General Secretary  CSA President 
Date:    Date:  
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OPERATING REPORT 

 
 
For year ended 30th June 2021 
 
In accordance with section 254 of the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009 (“Act”) the 
Branch Committee of Management present their report on the Community and Public Sector 
Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch for the financial year 30 June 2021. 
 
Review of principal activities, the results of those activities and any significant changes 
in the nature of those activities during the year 
 
The Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch [CPSU] and 
the Civil Service Association of WA [CSA], which is a Union registered under the WA Industrial 
Relations Act 1979, effectively operate as one unit.  Pursuant to the “CPSU and signatory bodies 
deed” [the deed] the CPSU and CSA have provided mutual covenants for cooperation.  The deed 
has been supplied in previous years’ financial disclosures. 
 
As previously advised the deed at clause 12, informs all dealings with the membership 
subscription fees of the CPSU and CSA.  The deed at clause 13, informs the provision of and 
payment for services between the CPSU and the CSA.  The deed at clause 14, provides for 
mutual covenants of cooperation between the CPSU and the CSA.  The deed at clause 15, 
concerns the assets of the CSA and some financial dealings between the CPSU and the CSA. 
 
This results in the CSA undertaking all necessary financial transactions for and on behalf of the 
CPSU.  The CPSU does not hold a bank account in its own name.  Any financial obligations 
incurred by the CPSU are met out of a bank account held in the name of the CSA. 
 
A list of activities are:- 
 

• Represent the professional and industrial interests of our members 
• Promote and defend WA’s high quality public services system and higher education 
• Negotiate Enterprise Bargaining and Industrial Agreements for fair wages and 

conditions 
• Provide Union delegates and workplace leaders with training and education to enable 

them to better represent members in the workplace 
• Hold monthly committee of management and branch council meetings to ensure 

oversight and monitoring of operational and governance compliance  
 
Significant changes in financial affairs 
 
No matters or circumstances arose during the reporting year which significantly affected the 
financial affairs of the Branch. 
 
Operating results 
 
The Branch’s profit for the year amounted to $NIL. 
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OPERATING REPORT 

 
Right of members to resign 
 
Rule 58 of CPSU, the Community and Public Sector Chapter C SPSF Group Rules sets out the 
terms under which a member of the CPSU Branch may resign.   
 

(a) A member may resign from membership of the Union by notice in writing if; 
 

(i) The member ceases to be eligible to become a member of the Union; or  
 

(ii) The member gives notice not less than two weeks before the resignation is to 
take effect.   

 
(b) The notice in writing of resignation shall be addressed to the Branch Secretary of the 

Branch of which the member resigning is a member or of which he or she has been 
attached. 

 
Officers or members who are superannuation fund trustee(s) (include position details) or 
director of a company that is a superannuation fund trustee where being a member or 
officer of a registered organisation is a criterion for them holding such position 
 
Member, Bruce Hawkins, is a current Employee Representative on the Government Employees 
Superannuation Board, an exempt public sector superannuation scheme from SIS regulations 
 
Number of members 
 
In accordance with Regulation 159(a) of the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Regulations 
2009 [the Regulations] and s.254(2)(f) of the Act – the number of persons that were at the end 
of the financial year recorded in the register of members and who are taken to be members of 
the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch was 12,119. 
 
Number of employees 
 
In accordance with Regulation 159(b) of the regulations and s.254(2)(f) of the Act– the number 
of persons who were at the end of the financial year employees of the CPSU Branch, including 
both full-time and part-time employees measured on a full-time equivalent basis were as 74. 
 
As previously advised to Fair Work Commission, the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF 
Group WA Branch and the Civil Service Association Incorporated operate on a dual employer 
basis.  All employees are employees of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group 
WA Branch and the Civil Service Association Incorported.  However, pursuant to the deed and 
for operating convenience, all employee related transactions are undertaken by the CSA for and 
on behalf of the CPSU Branch.  
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OPERATING REPORT 

 
Names of committee of management members and periods positions held during the 
financial year 
  
In accordance with Regulation 159(c) of the regulations and s.254(2)(f) of the Act– the names 
of the Committee of Management Members and period of positions held during the financial 
year were:-. 
 
As per Community and Public Sector SPSF Group WA Branch Rule 11, CPSU Branch 
Executive shall be the Committee of Management.  
 
 
Name 

 
Position 

 

Rikki Hendon Branch Secretary  Re-Elected 1st March 2021 
Melanie Bray Branch Assistant Secretary  Re-Elected 1st March 2021 
Brian Dodds Branch President Vacated position due to branch 

election declaration 1st March 2021 
Bruce Hawkins Branch Treasurer Vacated position due to branch 

election declaration 1st March 2021 
Matthew Abrahamson Branch Vice President Vacated position due to branch 

election declaration 1st March 2021 
Becky Anderson Branch Vice President Re-Elected 1st March 2021 
Matthew Abrahamson Branch President Declared elected 1st March 2021 
Lewis Stevens Branch Vice President Declared elected 1st March 2021 
John Lamb Branch Treasurer Declared elected 1st March 2021 
   
Lewis Stevens Executive Councillor Vacated position due to branch 

election declaration 21st April 2021 
Grant Sutherland Executive Councillor Vacated position due to branch 

election declaration 21st April 2021 
Denise Henden Executive Councillor Re-Elected 21st April 2021 
Kurt Mayerhofer Executive Councillor Re-Elected 21st April 2021 
Leanne Reid Executive Councillor Re-Elected 21st April 2021 
Jeremy Mowe Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 
Rod Schoneveld Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 
Anette Bohm Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 

 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the CPSU SPSF Group WA Branch Executive 
Committee: 
 
 

 
-------------------------------------------- 
Rikki Hendon 
Branch Secretary  

 
Dated:  10th September 2021 
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CERTIFICATE OF PRESCRIBED DESIGNATED OFFICER 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

I, Rikki Hendon, being the Branch Secretary of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF 
Group Western Australian Branch certify: 
 

• That the documents lodged herewith are copies of the full report for the Community and 
Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch for the year ended 30 June 
2021 referred to in s.268 of the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009; and 
 

• That the full report was provided to members of the Branch on xx September 2021; and 
 

• That the full report was presented to a meeting of the Committee of Management of the 
Branch on xx September 2021 in accordance with s.266 of the Fair Work (Registered 
Organisations) Act 2009. 

 

 

 

 

-------------------------------------------- 
Rikki Hendon 
Branch Secretary  

Dated: XX day of September 2021 
___________________ 

 

This certificate is only required to be lodged with the ROC 

The designated officer’s certificate must be completed, signed and dated by a 
prescribed designated officer after all the events within the financial reporting 
process have been completed. This will occur after the presentation of the full 
report to the relevant s.266 meeting (2nd meeting). 
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REPORT REQUIRED UNDER SUBSECTION 255(2A) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

The Committee of Management presents the expenditure report as required under subsection 
255(2A) on the Reporting Unit for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

Categories of Expenditures 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Remuneration and other employment-related costs and expenses- 
employees 

- - 

Advertising 411 399 

Operating Costs 157,438 165,338 

Donations to political parties - - 

Legal costs - - 

 

 

 

-------------------------------------------- 

Rikki Hendon 
Branch Secretary  

Dated:  10th day of September 2021 
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COMMITTEE OF MANAGEMENT STATEMENT 
 

On Wednesday, 8th September 2021 the Committee of Management of Community and Public 
Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch (“the Branch”) passed the following 

resolution in relation to the general purpose financial report (GPFR) for the year ended 30 June 
2021:  

The Committee of Management declares that in its opinion:  

(a) the financial statements and notes comply with the Australian Accounting Standards; 
(b) the financial statements and notes comply with any other requirements imposed by the 

Reporting Guidelines or Part 3 of Chapter 8 of the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) 
Act 2009 (the RO Act);  

(c) the financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the financial performance, 
financial position and cash flows of the reporting unit for the financial year to which they 
relate;  

(d) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the reporting unit will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable; and  

(e) during the financial year to which the GPFR relates and since the end of that year:  
(i) meetings of the committee of management were held in accordance with the rules 

of the organisation including the rules of a Branch concerned; and  

(ii) the financial affairs of the reporting unit have been managed in accordance with 
the rules of the organisation including the rules of a Branch concerned; and  

(iii) the financial records of the reporting unit have been kept and maintained in 
accordance with the RO Act; and  

(iv) where the organisation consists of two or more reporting units, the financial 
records of the reporting unit have been kept, as far as practicable, in a consistent 
manner with each of the other reporting units of the organisation; and  

(v) where information has been sought in any request by a member of the reporting 
unit or Commissioner duly made under section 272 of the RO Act has been 
provided to the member or Commissioner; and  

(vi) where any order for inspection of financial records has been made by the Fair 
Work Commission under section 273 of the RO Act, there has been compliance. 

(f) no revenue has been derived from undertaking recovery of wages activity during the 
reporting period. 

 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Committee of Management. 

 

 

-------------------------------------------- 

Rikki Hendon 
Branch Secretary  

Dated:  10th day of September 2021 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
 

   
Note 

2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Revenue    
 Membership Subscription  445,324 450,190 
 Capitation Fees 2A - - 
 Levies 2B - - 
 Interest Received  - - 
 Grants or Donations 2C - - 
 Transfers  - - 
 Revenue from Recovery of Wages Activity 2D - - 
Total income  445,324 450,190 
     
Expenses    
 Employee Expenses 3A - - 
 Capitation Fees 3B (209,413) (207,690) 
 Affiliation Fees 3C (78,062) (76,763) 
 Administration Expenses 3D - - 
 Grants or Donations 3E (100) (301) 
 Legal Costs 3F - - 
 Other Expenses 3G (154,749) (162,436) 
 Audit Fees 10 (3,000) (3,000) 
Total expenses  (445,324) (450,190) 
     
Surplus for the year  - - 
     
Other comprehensive income  - - 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year  - - 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

AS AT 30 JUNE 2021 
 

 Note 2021 2020 
ASSETS   $  $ 
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and Cash Equivalents 4A - - 
Trade and Other Receivables 4B - - 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  - - 
    
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  - - 
TOTAL ASSETS  - - 
 
LIABILITIES 

 
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and Other Payables 5A - - 
Employee Provisions 6A - - 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  - - 
    
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Employee Provisions 6A - - 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  - - 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  - - 
NET ASSETS  - - 
 
EQUITY 

 
  

Retained Earnings  - - 
TOTAL EQUITY  - - 
    
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

    Retained 
Earnings 

Total 

    $ $ 
Balance at 1 July 2019    - - 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year    - - 
      
Balance at 30 June 2020    - - 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year    - - 
      
Balance at 30 June 2021    - - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 
  2021 2020 
   $   $  
 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
 Cash received     
 Receipt from members   - - 
 Donations and grants  - - 
 Receipts from other reporting unit/controlled entity(s)  - - 
 Interest  - - 
 Cash used    
 Transfers from CPSU of WA   - - 
 Payment to national office  - - 
 Payment to suppliers  - - 
 Payment to other reporting units/controlled entity(s)  - - 
 Cash Generated from Operating Activities  8A - - 
    
 CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
 Cash Used in Investing Activities   - - 
    
 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
 Cash Used in Financing Activities   - - 
    
Net increase (decrease) in cash held - - 
Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  - - 
Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the year 4A - - 
    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
1.1 Basis of preparation of the financial statements  
 The financial statements are general purpose financial statements and have been 

prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that apply for the reporting period 
and the Fair Work (Registered Organisation) Act 2009. For the purpose of preparing the 
general purpose financial statements, the Branch is a not-for-profit entity. 

 The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and in accordance with 
the historical cost, except for certain assets and liabilities at measured at fair value, as 
explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair 
values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. Except where stated, no 
allowance is made for the effect of changing prices on the results or the financial position. 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. 

  
1.2 Comparative amounts 
 When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to 

conform to changes in presentation for the current financial year. 
  
1.3 Significant accounting judgements and estimates 
 The following accounting assumptions or estimates have been identified that have a 

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next reporting period. 

 Key estimates 
 Impairment 

 Nil 
 Key judgments 
 Available-for-sale investments 

 Nil 
  
1.4 New Australian Accounting Standards 
 Adoption of New Australian Accounting Standard Requirements 

 No accounting standard has been adopted earlier than the application date stated in the 
standard. 

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year. 
  

 Future Australian Accounting Standards Requirements 
 The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards that have 

mandatory application dates for future reporting periods. The Committee of Management 
have decided not to early adopt any of the new and amended pronouncements.  
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.5 Investment in associates and joint arrangements 
 An associate is an entity over which the Branch has significant influence and that is neither 

a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control 
or joint control over those policies. 
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of 
the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control.  
A joint operation is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control 
of the arrangement have rights to the individual assets and obligations for the liabilities of 
the joint operation. 
The results and assets and liabilities of associates and its joint ventures are incorporated 
in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the 
investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance 
with AASB 5 Non-current Asset Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the 
equity method, an investment in an associate or joint venture is initially recognised in the 
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the share of 
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the share of 
losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the interest in that associate, the Branch 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only 
to the extent that it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on 
behalf of the associate or joint venture. 
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the share of the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of 
acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the 
investment. Any excess of the share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.  

  
1.6 Acquisition of assets and or liabilities that do not constitute a business 

combination 
 The Branch did not acquire an asset or liability due to an amalgamation under Part 2 of 

Chapter 3 of the RO Act, a restructure of the branches of the organisation, a determination 
by the General Manager of the Fair Work Commission under subsection 245(1) or 249(1) 
of the RO Act. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.7 Current versus non-current classification   
 The Branch presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on 

current/non-current classification.  
An asset is current when it is:  

• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal 
operating cycle; 

• Held primarily for the purpose of trading;  
• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or  
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle 

a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period   
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

 A liability is current when:  
• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;  
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or  
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 

twelve months after the reporting period  
The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement 
by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.  
The Branch classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

  
1.8 Revenue 
 The Branch enters into various arrangements where it receives consideration from 

another party. These arrangements include consideration in the form of membership 
subscriptions, capitation fees, levies, grants, and donations.   
The timing of recognition of these amounts as either revenue or income depends on the 
rights and obligations in those arrangements. 

 Revenue from contracts with customers 
 Where the Branch has a contract with a customer, the Branch recognises revenue when 

or as it transfers control of goods or services to the customer. The Branch accounts for 
an arrangement as a contract with a customer if the following criteria are met: 

• the arrangement is enforceable; and 
• the arrangement contains promises (that are also known as performance 

obligations) to transfer goods or services to the customer (or to other parties on 
behalf of the customer) that are sufficiently specific so that it can be determined 
when the performance obligation has been satisfied. 

 Membership subscriptions 
 For membership subscription arrangements that meet the criteria to be contracts with 

customers, revenue is recognised when the promised goods or services transfer to the 
customer as a member of the Branch.    
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.8 Revenue (continued) 
 If there is only one distinct membership service promised in the arrangement, the Branch 

recognises revenue as the membership service is provided, which is typically based on 
the passage of time over the subscription period to reflect the Branch’s promise to stand 
ready to provide assistance and support to the member as required. 
If there is more than one distinct good or service promised in the membership 
subscription, the Branch allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation 
based on the relative standalone selling prices of each promised good or service. In 
performing this allocation, standalone selling prices are estimated if there is no observable 
evidence of the price that the Branch charges for that good or service in a standalone 
sale. When a performance obligation is satisfied, which is either when the customer 
obtains control of the good (for example, books or clothing) or as the service transfers to 
the customer (for example, member services or training course), the Branch recognises 
revenue at the amount of the transaction price that was allocated to that performance 
obligation.   
For member subscriptions paid annually in advance, the Branch has elected to apply the 
practical expedient to not adjust the transaction price for the effects of a significant 
financing component because the period from when the customer pays and the good or 
services will transfer to the customer will be one year or less.   
When a member subsequently purchases additional goods or services from the Branch 
at their standalone selling price, the Branch accounts for those sales as a separate 
contract with a customer.   

 Capitation fees 
 Where the Branch’s arrangement with a branch or another reporting unit meets the criteria 

to be a contract with a customer, the Branch recognises the capitation fees promised 
under that arrangement when or as it transfers the funds.   
In circumstances where the criteria for a contract with a customer are not met, the Branch 
will recognise capitation fees as income upon receipt (as specified in the income 
recognition policy below). 

 Levies 
 Levies paid by a member (or other party) in an arrangement that meets the criteria to be 

a contract with a customer is recognised as revenue when or as the Branch transfers the 
funds. 

 In circumstances where the criteria for a contract with a customer are not met, the Branch 
will recognise levies as income upon receipt (as specified in the income recognition policy 
below). 

 Volunteer services 
In circumstances where the fair value of the volunteer services can be measured reliably, 
the Branch recognises the fair value of volunteer services received as income together 
with a corresponding expense where the economic benefits of the volunteer services are 
consumed as the services are acquired. Where the volunteer services will contribute to 
the development of an asset, the fair value is included in the carrying amount of that asset. 

 During the year, the Branch did not recognise any volunteer services as revenue because 
it could not reliably measure the fair value of those services. 

   



COMMUNITY AND PUBLIC SECTOR UNION SPSF GROUP WESTERN AUSTRALIAN 
BRANCH 

ABN 16 836 420 693 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

15  

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.8 Revenue (continued) 
 Income of the Branch as a Not-for-Profit Entity 
 Consideration is received by the Branch to enable the entity to further its objectives. The 

Branch recognises each of these amounts of consideration as income when the 
consideration is received (which is when the Branch obtains control of the cash) because, 
based on the rights and obligations in each arrangement: 

 • the arrangements do not meet the criteria to be contracts with customers because 
either the arrangement is unenforceable or lacks sufficiently specific promises to 
transfer goods or services to the customer; and 

• the Branch’s recognition of the cash contribution does not give to any related 
liabilities.    

 Cash consideration received by the Branch will be recognised as income upon receipt. 
 Income recognised from transfers to acquire or construct a non-financial asset 
 Where, as part of an enforceable agreement, the Branch receives consideration to acquire 

or construct a non-financial asset such as property, plant and equipment to an identified 
specification and for the Branch’s own use, a liability is recognised for the obligation to 
acquire or construct the asset. Income is recognised as the obligation to acquire or 
construct the asset is satisfied, which is typically over time. The asset that is being 
acquired or constructed is recognised in accordance with the policy on property, plant and 
equipment. 

 Gains from sale of assets 
 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal (which is at the 

date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) 
is included in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

 Interest income 
 Interest revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. 
 Rental income 
 Leases in which the Branch as a lessor, does not transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental 
income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same 
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which 
they are earned. 

  
1.9 Employee benefits 
 A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and 

salaries, annual leave, long service leave and termination benefits when it is probable that 
settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably. 

 Liabilities for short-term employee benefits (as defined in AASB 119 Employee Benefits) 
and termination benefits due within twelve months of the end of reporting period are 
measured at their nominal amounts. The nominal amount is calculated with regard to the 
rates expected to be paid on settlement of the liability. 



COMMUNITY AND PUBLIC SECTOR UNION SPSF GROUP WESTERN AUSTRALIAN 
BRANCH 

ABN 16 836 420 693 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

16  

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.9 Employee benefits (continued) 
 Other long-term employee benefits are measured as the present value of the estimated 

future cash outflows to be made by the Branch in respect of services provided by 
employees up to reporting date. 

 Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense 
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. 

 The Branch recognises an obligation to provision for termination when it has developed a 
detailed formal plan for the terminations and has informed those employees affected that 
it will carry out the terminations as per the requirements of the relevant industrial 
conditions or obligations set out by Fair Work Commission.  

  
1.10 Leases 
 The Branch assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. 

That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration. 

 Branch as a lessee 
 The Branch applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except 

for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Branch recognises lease 
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use 
the underlying assets. 

 Right-of-use assets 
 The Branch recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., 

the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at 
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of 
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated 
useful lives of the assets. 

 If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Branch at the end of the lease term or 
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the 
estimated useful life of the asset. The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. 

 Lease liabilities 
 At the commencement date of the lease, the Branch recognises lease liabilities measured 

at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease 
payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease 
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and 
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also 
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the 
Branch and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the 
Branch exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend 
on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce 
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.    
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.10 Leases (continued) 
 In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Branch uses the implicit the 

interest rate or incremental borrowing rate if the implicit lease rate is not readily 
determinable, Branch to use as applicable. After the commencement date, the amount of 
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease 
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there 
is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., 
changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine 
such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the 
underlying asset.  

 Peppercorn or below market leases 
 The Branch has elected to recognise the fair value of the leased property at inception of 

the lease. The difference between the fair value of the leased asset and the lease liability 
measured at the present value of the ‘peppercorn’ lease rental, is recognised as income. 

 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 The Branch’s short-term leases are those that have a lease term of 12 months or less 

from the commencement. It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition 
exemption to leases that are below $7,000. Lease payments on short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

  
1.11 Borrowing costs 
 All borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in the period in which they are 

incurred. 
  
1.12 Cash  
 Cash is recognised at its nominal amount. Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on 

hand, deposits held at call with bank, other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturity of 3 months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts 
are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the consolidated statement 
of financial position. 

  
1.13 Financial instruments 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Branch becomes a party 

to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.14 Financial assets 
 Contract assets and receivables 

A contract asset is recognised when the Branch’s right to consideration in exchange 
goods or services that has transferred to the customer when that right is conditioned on 
the Branch’s future performance or some other condition. 
A receivable is recognised if an amount of consideration that is unconditional is due from 
the customer (i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the 
consideration is due). 
Contract assets and receivables are subject to impairment assessment. Refer to 
accounting policies on impairment of financial assets below. 

 Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), or fair value 
through profit or loss. 
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s 
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Branch’s business model for managing 
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component, the Branch initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the 
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. 
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value 
through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and 
interest’ (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as 
the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. 

 The Branch’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its 
financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether 
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, 
or both. 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are 
recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Branch commits to purchase or sell 
the asset. 
Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in five 
categories: 

• (Other) financial assets at amortised cost 
• (Other) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
• Investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
• (Other) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
• (Other) financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at amortised cost  
The Branch measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions 
are met: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold 
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and  

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.14 Financial assets (continued) 
 Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest 

(EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.  
The Branch’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables and loans to 
related parties. 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
The Branch measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following 
conditions are met: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both 
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange 
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and 
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. 
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, the 
cumulative fair value change recognised in OCI is recycled to profit or loss. 
The Branch’s debt instruments at fair value through OCI includes investments in quoted 
debt instruments included under other non-current financial assets. 

 Investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 
Upon initial recognition, the Branch can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments 
as equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income when 
they meet the definition of equity under AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis. 
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends 
are recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been 
established, except when the Branch benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part 
of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity 
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject 
to impairment assessment. 
The Branch elected to classify irrevocably its listed and non-listed equity investments 
under this category. 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (including designated) 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, 
financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or 
financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are 
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing 
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are 
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business 
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost 
or at fair value through other comprehensive income, as described above, debt 
instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if 
doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.14 Financial assets (continued) 
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial 

position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 
 Derecognition 

A financial asset is derecognised when:  
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or 
• The Branch has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has 

assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay 
to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either: 
a) the Branch has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 

or  
b) the Branch has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset. 
When the Branch has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has 
entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has 
retained the risks and rewards of ownership.  
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Branch continues to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement together with associated 
liability. 
Offsetting 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets 
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 Impairment  
Expected credit losses 
Receivables for goods and services, which have 30-day terms, are recognised at the 
nominal amounts due less any loss allowance due to expected credit losses at each 
reporting date. A provision matrix that is based on historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment 
has been established.  

 (i) Trade receivables 
For trade receivables that do not have a significant financing component, the Branch 
applies a simplified approach in calculating expected credit losses (ECLs) which requires 
lifetime expected credit losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.  
Therefore, the Branch does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss 
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Branch has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

 (ii) Debt instruments other than trade receivables 
For all debt instruments other than trade receivables and debt instruments not held at fair 
value through profit or loss, the Branch recognises an allowance for expected credit 
losses using the general approach. ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Branch expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest 
rate.  
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.14 Financial assets (continued) 
 ECLs are recognised in two stages: 

• Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses from possible default events 
within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).  

• Where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of 
the debt, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).  

The Branch considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days 
past due. However, in certain cases, the Branch may also consider a financial asset to be 
in default when internal or external information indicates that the Branch is unlikely to 
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full. A financial asset is written off when 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 

1.15 Financial Liabilities 
 Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, at amortised cost unless or at fair 
value through profit or loss. 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of financial 
liabilities at amortised cost, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent measurement 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (including designated)  
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for 
trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

 Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss 
are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments are satisfied. 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
After initial recognition, trade payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
EIR amortisation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as 
finance costs in profit or loss. 
Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.   
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.16 Liabilities relating to contracts with customers 
 Contract liabilities 
 A contract liability is recognised if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever 

is earlier) from a customer before the Branch transfers the related goods or services. 
Contract liabilities include deferred income. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue 
when the Branch performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods 
or services to the customer). 

 Refund liabilities 
 A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration 

received (or receivable) from a customer. The Branch’s refund liabilities arise from 
customers’ right of return. The liability is measured at the amount the Branch ultimately 
expects it will have to return to the customer. The Branch updates its estimates of refund 
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end of each 
reporting period. 

  
1.17 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not recognised in the Statement of 

Financial Position but are reported in the relevant notes. They may arise from uncertainty 
as to the existence of a liability or asset or represent an existing liability or asset in respect 
of which the amount cannot be reliably measured. Contingent assets are disclosed when 
settlement is probable but not virtually certain, and contingent liabilities are disclosed 
when settlement is greater than remote. 

  
1.18 Land, buildings, plant and equipment 
 Asset recognition threshold 

 Purchases of land, buildings, plant and equipment are recognised initially at cost in the 
Statement of Financial Position. The initial cost of an asset includes an estimate of the 
cost of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located. 

 Revaluations—Land and Buildings 
Following initial recognition at cost, land and buildings are carried at fair value less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Revaluations are performed with sufficient frequency such that the carrying amount of 
assets do not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values as at 
the reporting date. 
Revaluation adjustments are made on a class basis. Any revaluation increment is credited 
to equity under the heading of asset revaluation reserve except to the extent that it 
reversed a previous revaluation decrement of the same asset class that was previously 
recognised in the surplus/deficit. Revaluation decrements for a class of assets are 
recognised directly in the profit or loss except to the extent that they reverse a previous 
revaluation increment for that class. Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation 
date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the asset is restated 
to the revalued amount. 

 Depreciation 
 Depreciable property, plant and equipment assets are written-off to their estimated 

residual values over their estimated useful life using, in all cases, the straight line method 
of depreciation. Depreciation rates (useful lives), residual values and methods are 
reviewed at each reporting date and necessary adjustments are recognised in the current, 
or current and future reporting periods, as appropriate. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.18 Land, buildings, plant and equipment (continued) 
 The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
 Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 
 Furniture and equipment 2% - 40% 
 Motor vehicles 18.75% 
 Buildings and improvements                 1.5% - 11.25% 
 Derecognition 

 An item of land, buildings, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising 
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and 
is recognised in the profit and loss. 

  
1.19 Investment property 
 Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation 

(including property under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are 
measured initially at its cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit and loss in the period in 
which they arise. 

 An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property 
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from 
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised. 

  
1.20 Intangibles 
 Intangible assets with finite lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. The estimated useful 
lives and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 
The useful life of the Branch’s intangible assets are: 

 
2021 2020 

Intangibles 10 to 20 years 10 to 20 years 

 
Derecognition 
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible 
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset are recognised in profit and loss when the asset is derecognised. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.21 Impairment for Non-Financial Assets 
 All assets are assessed for impairment at the end of each reporting period to the extent 

that there is an impairment trigger. Where indications of impairment exist, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment adjustment made if the asset’s 
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount. 

 The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the asset. Where the future economic benefit of an asset is not primarily 
dependent on the asset’s ability to generate future cash flows, and the asset would be 
replaced if the Branch was deprived of the asset, its value in use is taken to be its 
depreciated replacement cost. 

  
1.22 Non-current assets held for sale 
 Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 

principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition 
is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable, and the non-current asset is 
available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to 
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within 
one year from the date of classification. 

 Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous 
carrying amount and fair value less costs of disposal. 

  
1.23 Taxation 
 The Branch is exempt from income tax under section 50.1 of the Income Tax Assessment 

Act 1997 however still has obligation for Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and the Goods and 
Services Tax (GST). 

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except: 
 where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office; 

and 
 for receivables and payables. 
 The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included 

as part of receivables or payables. 
 Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component 

of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or 
payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is classified within operating cash flows. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
1.24 Fair value measurements 
 The Branch measures financial instruments, such as, financial assets as at fair value 

through the profit and loss, financial assets at fair value through OCI, and non-financial 
assets such as land and buildings and investment properties, at fair value at each balance 
sheet date.  
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair 
value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the 

asset or liability 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Branch. The 
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest. 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market 
participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest 
and best use. 
The Branch uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial 
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Level 1—Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities 

• Level 2—Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 

• Level 3—Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement is unobservable 

 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring 
basis, the Branch determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. External 
valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as land and buildings and 
investment properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, 
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. For the purpose of 
fair value disclosures, the Branch has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the 
fair value hierarchy. 

  
1.25 Going Concern 
 The Branch is not reliant on financial support of another reporting unit to continue on a 

going concern basis. However the Branch is reliant on the financial support of the Civil 
Service Association of Western Australia Incorporated (see Note 9). 

 The Branch provides no financial support to ensure another reporting unit can continue 
on a going concern basis. 
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Note 2: Income 
No income was received during the reporting period for capitation fees, levies, grants or 
donations or support from another reporting unit of the organisation. 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Note 2A: Capitation Fees  - - 
 
Note 2B: Levies  - - 
 
Note 2C: Grants or Donations  - - 
    
Note 2D: Revenue from recovery of wages activity  - - 
 
Note 3: Expenses 
During the reporting period no expenses were incurred as consideration for employers making 
payroll deductions of membership subscriptions, compulsory levies imposed, legal costs or 
penalties imposed on the Branch under the RO Act with respect to its conduct. 
 
Note 3A: Employee Expenses 
Holders of office:    
– Wages and salaries  353,188 353,075 
– Superannuation  39,875 38,443 
– Leave and other entitlements  14,958 (11,121) 
Subtotal employee expenses holders of office  408,021 380,397 
Employees other than office holders:    
– Wages and salaries  5,573,651 5,879,121 
– Superannuation  683,605 681,760 
– Leave and other entitlements  48,333 180,034 
– Other employee expenses  - - 
Subtotal employee expenses other than office holders  6,305,589 6,740,915 
Total employee expenses (Reported in the financial statements 
of the Civil Service Association of WA Inc) 

 
6,713,610 7,121,312 

 
Note 3B: Capitation Fees and Other Expense to Another Reporting Unit 
Capitation fees    
National Office Membership (CPSU)  (209,413) (207,690) 
Subtotal capitation fees  (209,413) (207,690) 
    
Other expense to another reporting unit  - - 
Total capitation fees and other expense to another reporting unit  (209,413) (207,690) 
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  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Note 3C: Affiliation Fees    
Australian Council of Trade Union Affiliation fees  (78,062) (76,763) 
Total Affiliation fees  (78,062) (76,763) 
 
Note 3D: Administration Expenses 
The Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and the Civil Service 
Association of Western Australia Incorporated (“CSA”), which is a Union of employees 
registered under the WA Industrial Relations Act 1979, effectively operate as one unit.  
Pursuant to the “CPSU and signatory bodies deed” [the deed] the Community and Public 
Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and CSA have provided mutual covenants for 
cooperation [see clause 14 deed].  Please note the deed has been supplied in previous 
year’s financial reports. 
 
The deed at clause 12, informs all dealings with the membership subscription fees of the 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and CSA. 
 
The deed at clause 13, informs the provision of and payment for services between the 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and the CSA.    
 
The deed at clause 14, provides for mutual covenants of cooperation between the 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and the CSA.    
 
The deed at clause 15, concerns the assets of the CSA and financial dealings between 
the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch and the CSA. 

 
This results in the CSA undertaking all necessary financial transactions for and on behalf 
of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch.  The Community and 
Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch does not hold a bank account in its own 
name.  All financial obligations incurred by the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF 
Group WA Branch are met out of a bank account held in the name of the CSA. 
 
In consequence, Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch revenue 
and expenses are recorded in compliance with the deed.  This is effectively a bookkeeping 
exercise given the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch holds no 
bank account to receive or disburse monies. Further, the Community and Public Sector 
Union SPSF Group WA Branch holds no other tangible assets in its own name. 
 
A proportion of the membership subscriptions [of the Community and Public Sector Union 
SPSF Group WA Branch and the CSA] is allocated as income for the Community and 
Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch.  This is undertaken as per the requirements 
of the deed.  
    
Consideration to employers for payroll deductions  - - 
Compulsory levies  - - 
Fees/allowance – meeting & conferences  - - 
Meetings of members, committees etc. & conferences & travel  - - 
Total administration expenses  - - 
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  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Note 3E: Grants or Donations    
Grants    
       Total paid that were $1,000 or less  - - 
       Total paid that exceeded $1,000  - - 
Donations    
       Total paid that were $1,000 or less  (100) (301) 
       Total paid that exceeded $1,000  - - 
Total grants or donations  (100) (301) 
 
Note 3F: Legal Costs 
Litigation  - - 
Other legal matters  - - 
Total legal costs  - - 
 
Note 3G: Other Expenses 
Advertising  (411) (399) 
Cleaning  (13,609) (12,519) 
Council Expenses  (1,815) (144) 
Courier Services  (6) (7) 
Covid 19 Expenses  (932) - 
Fuel Light and Power  (15,445) (19,165) 
General Expense  (2,747) (2,861) 
Industrial Campaigns  (85,118) (83,396) 
Insurance  (7,365) (6,994) 
Media Monitoring  (87) (118) 
Photocopy Cost  (4,071) (5,190) 
Postage       (1,109) (1,305) 
Promotions  - (549) 
Rates & Taxes  (10,772) (11,254) 
Security  (180) (663) 
Special Projects  (1,695) (8,447) 
Stationery  (1,224) (1,273) 
Storage Facility  (1,151) (1,116) 
Subscriptions  (1,224) (1,059) 
Telephone  (4,856) (5,112) 
Travelling Expenses  (77) (91) 
Web Development Costs  (855) (774) 
Penalties - via RO Act or RO Regulations  - - 
Total Other Expenses  (154,749) (162,436) 
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Note 4: Current Assets 
The Branch has no fund or account operated in respect of compulsory levies or voluntary 
contributions, and therefore has no such monies invested in any assets. The Branch has no 
fund or account the operation of which is required by its rules or by the rules of the organisation, 
and therefore no transfers and/or withdrawal(s) from such an account. 
 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Note 4A: Cash and Cash Equivalents    
Cash at bank   - - 
Total cash and cash equivalents   - - 
 
Note 4B: Trade and Other Receivables 
Receivables from other reporting unit  - - 
Total receivables from other reporting unit  - - 
    
Less allowance for expected credit losses  - - 
Total allowance for expected credit losses  - - 
Receivable from other reporting unit (net)  - - 
    
Other receivables:     
– ATO refunds  - - 
Total other receivables  - - 
Total trade and other receivables (net)  - - 
 
The movement in the allowance for expected credit losses of trade and other receivables is 
as follows: 
At 1 July - - 
Provision for expected credit losses - - 
Write-off - - 

At 30 June - - 

 
Note 5: Current Liabilities 
The Branch has no payables or other financial liability to any other reporting unit of the 
organisation. 
 
The Branch has no payables to employers as consideration for the employer making payroll 
deductions for membership subscriptions, or in respect of legal costs and other expenses 
related to litigation or other legal matters. 
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  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Note 5A: Trade and Other Payables 
Payables to other reporting units  - - 
Consideration to employers for payroll deductions  - - 
Legal costs  - - 
Total trade and other payables  - - 
    
Note 6: Provisions    
Note 6A: Employee Provisions    
Office holders:    
– Provision for annual leave  53,828 43,975 
– Provision for long service leave  101,191 98,935 
Subtotal employee provisions – office holders  155,019 142,910 
 
Employees other than office holders:    
– Annual leave  565,235 578,939 
– Long service leave       833,982 769,096 
Subtotal employee provisions – employees other than office 
holders 1,399,217 

     
1,348,035 

Total employee provisions (Reported in the financial statements 
of the Civil Service Association of WA Inc) 

 
 1,554,236 1,490,945 

    
Current  1,399,015 1,348,363 
Non-current  155,221 142,582 
Total employee provisions (Reported in the financial statements 
of the Civil Service Association of WA Inc) 

 
1,554,236 1,490,945 

    
Note 7: Equity    
Note 7A: General Funds    
Balance as at start of year  - - 
Transferred to general fund  - - 
Transferred out of general fund  - - 
Balance as at end of year  - - 
    
Note 7B: Other Funds    
Compulsory levy/voluntary contribution fund    
Balance as at start of year  - - 
    Transferred to fund, account or controlled entity  - - 
    Transferred out of fund, account or controlled entity  - - 
Balance as at end of year                 -                 - 
Total compulsory levy/voluntary contribution fund  - - 
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Note 8: Cash Flow 
As a result of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian 
Branch’s relationship with the CSA, the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group 
Western Australian Branch’s funds are not a discrete deposit of monies, separate to that of the 
CSA.   
The funds are identified as a notional sum in the CSA accounts and in accordance with the 
deed.  The CSA undertakes all necessary financial transactions for and on behalf of the 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch, which does not 
hold a bank account in its own name, or have any cash assets and all financial obligations 
incurred by the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch 
are met out of a bank account held in the name of the CSA. 
 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Note 8A: Cash Flow Reconciliation    
Reconciliation of profit to net cash from operating 
activities: 

 
  

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  - - 
    
Changes in assets/liabilities    
– Increase in trade and other receivables  - - 
Net cash generated from operating activities  - - 
 
Note 8B: Cash Flow Information 
Cash inflows    
Transfer from CSAWA savings to cover capitation fees payment - - 
Total cash inflows  - - 
    
Cash outflows    
National Office Membership (CPSU)  - - 
Australian Council of Trade Union Affiliation Fees  - - 
Total cash outflows  - - 
 
Note 9: Related Party Disclosures 
Since the inception of the Civil Service Association of WA Incorporated, it has provided 
financial and other resource support to the CPSU WA Branch. The CSA has in correspondence 
dated 18 August 2021 formalised the nature of that support and resolved to continue to fund 
the operations of the Branch by way of making necessary payments on behalf of CPSUWA 
from time to time and/or the provision of staff and other resources as required. 
The CSA has undertaken to consult with the Branch should it become necessary to alter or 
cease this support and in any event will give at least three months’ notice of any such alteration 
or cessation. 
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  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Note 9A: Related Party Transactions for the Reporting Period 
The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with 
related parties for the relevant year. 
Revenue received from the following:    
– Civil Service Association of Western Australia 

incorporated 
 - - 

  - - 
Terms and conditions of transactions with related 
parties 

   

The terms of the revenue received from the related party are as per Note 9 above. There have 
been no guarantees required or provided by the Branch for any of the revenue received from 
the related party. For the year ended 30 June 2021 there are no amounts owed to the Branch 
by a related party, declared person or body (2020: $Nil) 
Note 9B: Key Management Personnel Remuneration for the Reporting Period 
Pursuant to a certificate issued under s71 of the WA Industrial Relations Act 1979, the two 
full time elected officials of the Community and Public Section Union SPSF Group WA 
Branch [Key Management Personnel] are also the two full time elected officials of the CSA.  
The relevant titles are Branch Secretary and Branch Assistant Secretary for the 
Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch and General 
Secretary and Assistant General Secretary for the CSA.  
 
Short-term employee benefits:    
– Salary (including annual leave taken)  353,188 353,075 
– Annual leave accrued  (269) (9,878) 
– Remuneration for attending meeting & conferences & 

travel allowance 
                       

- 
                             

- 
– Committee honorariums  - - 
– Meeting expenses  - - 
Total short-term employee benefits  352,919 343,197 
    
Post-employment benefits:    
– Superannuation  39,875 38,443 
Total post-employment benefits  39,875 38,443 
    
Other long-term benefits:    
– Long service leave  15,228 (1,242) 
Total long-term benefits  15,228 (1,242) 
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Note 9C: Remuneration Paid to the Employees (Other than Office Holders) 
The Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian Branch has 74 
employees.  It effectively operates as a dual employer of the employees with the CSA.  All 
employee expenses are paid through the CSA.  
 
The following employee expenses were paid through CSA and recoded as a liability for 
CSA: 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Short-term employee benefits:    
– Salary (including annual leave taken)  5,573,651 5,879,121 
– Annual leave accrued  (3,582) 180,034 
– Separation & Redundancies  - - 
Total short-term employee benefits  5,570,069 6,059,155 
Post-employment benefits:    
– Superannuation  683,605 681,760 
Total post-employment benefits  683,605 681,760 
 
Other long-term benefits:    
– Long service leave  51,915 - 
Total long-term benefits  51,915 - 
 
Note 10: Remuneration of Auditors 
    
Value of the services provided    
– Financial statement audit services  3,000 3,000 
– Other services & membership audit  - - 
Total remuneration of auditors  3,000 3,000 
 
Note 11: Events after the reporting period 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is ongoing and while it has been financially negative for 
the Branch up to 30 June 2021, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or 
negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on 
measures imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, such as maintaining 
social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that 
may be provided. 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2021 that has significantly affected, 
or may significantly affect the Branch's operations, the results of those operations, or the 
Branch's state of affairs in future financial years. 
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Note: 12 Financial Instruments 
The Branch’s financial instruments consist of deposit with banks and accounts receivable and 
payable. 
Risk is managed by the Branch Committee monitoring the financial performance of the 
CPSUWA (a related party, see Note 9 and 9A) and its continuing capacity and willingness to 
financially support the operations of the Branch. 
The main purpose of non-derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for the operations. 
The Branch does not have any derivative instruments as at 30 June 2021. 
 
Note 12A: Categories of Financial Instruments 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Financial assets 
Fair value through profit or loss  - - 
Loans and receivable  - - 
Carrying amount of financial asset  - - 
 
Financial Liabilities 
Fair value through profit or loss  - - 
Other financial liabilities  - - 
Carrying amount of financial liabilities  - - 
 
Note 12B: Net Income and Expense from Financial Assets 
Fair value through profit or loss  - - 
Loans and receivable  - - 
Net gain/(loss) from financial assets  - - 
 
The net income/expense from financial assets not at fair value from profit and loss is nil (2020: 
nil). 
 
Note 12C: Net Income and Expense from Financial Liabilities 
Fair value through profit or loss  - - 
At amortises cost  - - 
Net gain/(loss) from financial assets  - - 
 
The net income/expense from financial liabilities not at fair value from profit and loss is $Nil 
(2020: $Nil). 
 
Note 12D: Credit Risk 
The Branch is not exposed to any credit risk. The Branch does not monitor the credit risks in 
relation to cash and cash equivalent, which are transacted through creditworthy financial 
institutions. The management believes that these institutions are being subject to strict 
prudential norms imposed by Legislation, Reserve Bank and other regulatory authorities. 
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Note 12E: Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Branch will encounter difficulties in meeting the contractual 
obligations of its financial liabilities (principally due to shortage of funds). 
Liquidity risk is kept continually under review and managed to ensure that cleared funds are 
held to meet the obligations on the respective due dates. 
Liquidity risk is managed through: 
(a) Monitoring short term forecasted in-flows and the committed cash outflows of financial 

stabilities; 
(b) Monitoring the unused withdrawal facilities with banks. 
The tables below reflect an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for non-derivative 
financial liabilities.  The Branch does not hold directly any derivative financial liabilities. 
Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of 
realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows 
presented in the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement 
dates. 
Contractual maturities for financial liabilities 2021 

 On 
Demand 

< 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 
years 

> 5 years Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Trade and other payables  - - - - - - 
Total - - - - - - 
       
Contractual maturities for financial liabilities 2020  

On Demand < 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 years Total  
$ $ $ $ $ $ 

Trade and other payables  - - - - - - 
Total - - - - - - 
 

Note 12F: Market Risk 

(a) Interest rate risk 
 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values and cash-flows of Branch’s financial 

instruments will be affected by changes in the market interest rates. 
 The management of the Branch believes that the risk of interest rate movement would not 

have material impact on Branch’s operations. 
(b) Other price risk 
 Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising 
from interest rate risk or currency risk) of securities held. 

(c) Sensitivity analysis 
 The following table illustrates sensitivities to the Branch’s exposures to changes in interest 

rates and equity prices. The table indicates the impact on how profit and equity values 
reported at the end of the reporting period would have been affected by changes in the 
relevant risk variable that management considers to be reasonably possible. 
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Note 12F: Market risk (Continued) 
These sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other 
variables. 
  Change in risk Effect on 
  Variable % Profit & loss Equity 
   $ $ 
Year ended 30 June 2021     
Interest rate risk  +/- 1% - - 
Year ended 30 June 2020     
Interest rate risk  +/- 1% - - 
 
 
Note 12G: Asset Pledge/or Held as collateral 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Financial assets pledged as collateral  - - 
Assets held as collateral  - - 
 
Note 12H: Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities 
 1 July 2020 Cash Flows Other 30 June 2021 
 $ $ $ $ 
Current interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings (excluding 
items listed below) 

                                                                                                                                                                                       
- 

                                                                                                                                 
- 

                                                                                                                                 
- 

                                                                                                                                 
- 

Current obligations under 
finance leases and hire 
purchase contracts 

                                               
- 

                                             
- 

                                             
- 

                                             
- 

Non-current interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings 
(excluding items listed below) 

                                   
- 

                                 
- 

                                 
- 

                                 
- 

Non-current obligations under 
finance leases and hire 
purchase contracts 

                                          
- 

                                          
- 

                                          
- 

                                          
- 

Dividends Payable 
 

- - - - 

Derivatives 
 

- - - - 

Total liabilities from financing 
activities 

                          
- 

                          
- 

                          
- 

                          
- 
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Note 12H: Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities (Continued) 
 1 July 2019 Cash Flows Other 30 June 2020 
 $ $ $ $ 
Current interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings (excluding 
items listed below) 

                                                                                                                                                                                       
- 

                                                                                                                                 
- 

                                                                                                                                 
- 

                                                                                                                                 
- 

Current obligations under 
finance leases and hire 
purchase contracts 

                                               
- 

                                             
- 

                                             
- 

                                             
- 

Non-current interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings 
(excluding items listed below) 

                                   
- 

                                 
- 

                                 
- 

                                 
- 

Non-current obligations under 
finance leases and hire 
purchase contracts 

                                          
- 

                                          
- 

                                          
- 

                                          
- 

Dividends Payable - - - - 

Derivatives - - - - 

Total liabilities from financing 
activities 

                          
- 

                          
- 

                          
- 

                          
- 

 
Note 13: Fair value measurement 
Note 13A: Financial assets and liabilities 
Management of the Branch assessed that cash, trade receivables, trade payables, and other 
current liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of 
these instruments. 
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount which the instrument 
could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. The following methods 
and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values: 

• Fair values of the Branch’s interest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined by 
using a discounted cash flow method. The discount rate used reflects the issuer’s 
borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. The own performance risk as at 
30 June 2021 was assessed to be insignificant. 

• Fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is derived from quoted market prices in 
active markets. 

• Long-term fixed-rate and variable-rate receivables/borrowings are evaluated by the 
Group based on parameters such as interest rates and individual credit worthiness of 
the customer. Based on this evaluation, allowances are taken into account for the 
expected losses of these receivables. As at 30 June 2021 the carrying amounts of 
such receivables, net of allowances, were not materially different from their calculated 
fair values. 
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Note 13A: Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued) 
The following table contains the carrying amounts and related fair values for the Branch’s 
financial assets and liabilities: 
 Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 

 amount value amount value 
 2021 2021 2020 2020 
 $ $ $ $ 

Financial Assets     
Trade and other receivable - -  -  -  
Total  - -  -  -  
Financial Liabilities - -  -  -  
Trade and other payable  - -  -  -  
Total  - -  -  -  
 

Note 13B: Financial and Non-financial Assets and Liabilities Fair Value Hierarchy 
The following tables provide an analysis of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities 
that are measured at fair value, by fair value hierarchy. 
 
Fair value hierarchy – 30 June 2021 
 Date of 

Valuation 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Asset measured at fair value $ $ $ $ 
Cash and cash equivalents  - - - 
Trade and other receivables  - - - 
Total financial assets  - - - 
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables  - - - 

Total financial liabilities  - - - 
There were no transfers occurred during the financial year. 
 
Fair value hierarchy – 30 June 2020 
 Date of 

Valuation 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Asset measured at fair value $ $ $ $ 
Cash and cash equivalents  - - - 
Trade and other receivables  - - - 
Total financial assets  - - - 
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables  - - - 

Total financial liabilities  - - - 
There were no transfers occurred during the financial year. 
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Note 14: Administration of financial affairs by a third party 
  
Name of entity providing service:  Not Applicable 
Terms and conditions:  Not Applicable 
Nature of expenses/consultancy service:  Not Applicable 
 
Note 15: Section 272 Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009 
In accordance with the requirements of the Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009, the 
attention of members is drawn to the provisions of subsections (1) to (3) of section 272, which 
reads as follows: 
Information to be provided to members or the Commissioner: 
(1) A member of a reporting unit, or the Commissioner, may apply to the reporting unit for 

specified prescribed information in relation to the reporting unit to be made available to the 
person making the application. 

(2) The application must be in writing and must specify the period within which, and the manner 
in which, the information is to be made available. The period must not be less than 14 days 
after the application is given to the reporting unit. 

(3) A reporting unit must comply with an application made under subsection (1). 
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OFFICER DECLARATION STATEMENT 

 
I, Rikki Hendon, being the Branch Secretary of the Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group 
WA Branch, declare that the following activities did not occur during the reporting period ending 30 June 
2021. 
 
The Branch did not: 
 

• Agree to receive financial support from another reporting unit as a going concern 
• Agree to provide financial support to another reporting unit to ensure they continue as a going 

concern 
• Acquire an asset or liability due to amalgamation under Part 2 of Chapter 3 of the RO Act, a 

restructure of the branches of an organization, a determination or revocation by the General 
Manager, Fair Work Commission 

• Receive capitation fees from another reporting unit 
• Receive any other revenue from another reporting unit 
• Receive revenue via compulsory levies 
• Receive donations or grants 
• Receive revenue from undertaking recovery of wages activity 
• Incur fees as consideration for employers making payroll deductions of membership 

subscriptions 
• Pay any other expense to another reporting unit 
• Pay compulsory levies 
• Pay a grant that was $1,000 or less 
• Pay a grant that exceeded $1,000 
• Pay a donation that exceeded $1,000 
• Pay to a person fees or allowances to attend conferences or meetings as a representative of 

the reporting unit 
• Incur expenses due to holding a meeting as required under the rules of the organization 
• Pay legal costs relating to litigation 
• Pay legal costs relating to other legal matters 
• Pay a penalty imposed under the RO Act or the Fair Work Act 2009 
• Have a receivable with other reporting unit(s) 
• Have a payable with other reporting unit(s) 
• Have a payable to an employer for that employer making payroll deductions of membership 

subscriptions 
• Have a payable in respect of legal costs relating to litigation 
• Have a payable in respect of legal costs relating to other legal matters 
• Have a fund or account for compulsory levies, voluntary contributions or required by the rules 

of the organization or branch 
• Transfer to or withdraw from a fund (other than the general fund), account, asset or controlled 

entity 
• Have a balance within the general fund 
• Provide cash flows to another reporting unit and/or controlled entity 
• Receive cash flows from another reporting unit and/or controlled entity 
• Have another entity administer the financial affairs of the reporting unit 
• Make a payment to a former related party of the reporting unit 

 

 
-------------------------------------------- 
Rikki Hendon  
Branch Secretary 
Dated: 10th September 2021 
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AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  

TO THE MEMBERS OF  
COMMUNITY AND PUBLIC SECTOR UNION SPSF GROUP WA BRANCH 

 
 

As auditor for the audit of Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group Western Australian 
Branch for the year ended 30 June 2021, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
during the year ended 30 June 2021, there has been: 
 

i. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 
 
 

AMW AUDIT 
Chartered Accountants 

 
 
Martin Shone 
Director and Registered Company Auditor 

 
Dated at Perth, Western Australia this  13th  day of  September  2021 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS  
OF COMMUNITY AND PUBLIC SECTOR UNION SPSF GROUP WA BRANCH  
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report  
Opinion 
I have audited the financial report of Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch, 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2021, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, the committee of management statement, the subsection 255(2A) 
report and the officer eclaration Statement. 
 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial report presents fairly, in all material aspects, the financial 
position of Community and Public Sector Union SPSF Group WA Branch as at 30 June 2021, and 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the period ended on that date in accordance with: 
a) the Australian Accounting Standards; and 
b) any other requirements imposed by the Reporting Guidelines or Part 3 of Chapter 8 of the 

Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009 (the RO Act). 
I declare that management’s use of the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial 
statements of the Branch is appropriate. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of my report. I am independent of the Branch in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report 
in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion. 
 
Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
The Committee of Management is responsible for the other information. The other information 
obtained at the date of this auditor’s report is in the Operating Report accompanying the financial 
report. 
My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of Committee of Management for the Financial Report 
The Committee of Management of the Branch is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
RO Act, and for such internal control as the Committee of Management determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial report, the Committee of Management is responsible for assessing the 
Branch’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Committee of Management 
either intend to liquidate the Branch or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Branch’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Committee of Management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Committee of Management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Branch’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.  If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to 
draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Branch to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Branch to express an opinion on the financial report. I am 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Branch audit. I remain solely 
responsible for my audit opinion. 
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I communicate with the Committee of Management regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that I identify during my audit. 
I declare that I am an auditor registered under the RO Act, a member of Chartered Accountants 
Australia and New Zealand and hold a current Public Practice Certificate. 
 
 
 
 
AMW AUDIT 
Chartered Accountants 
Address: Unit 8, 210 Winton Road, Joondalup, Western Australia 
 
 
 
MARTIN SHONE 
Director & Registered Company Auditor 
RO Registration number AA2017/8  
 
Dated at Perth, Western Australia this  13th  day of September 2021 
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CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATIONOF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED 
 

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

In the opinion of the Committee the financial report as set out on pages 6 to 29; 
 
1. Presents fairly the financial position of the Civil Service Association of Western Australia 

Incorporated as at 30 June 2021 and its performance for the year ended on that date in 
accordance with Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards, 
mandatory professional reporting requirements and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board. 

2. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Civil Service 
Association of Western Australia Incorporated will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable for the next 12 months from the date of signing the financial report. 

3. The financial report for the year ended 30 June 2021 has been properly drawn up in 
accordance with the Western Australia Industrial Relations Act 1979 (as amended).  
 

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Committee and is signed for and on 
the behalf of the Committee by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      
......................................................   ................................................... 
R HENDON      M ABRAHAMSON 
General Secretary     President 
 
 
 
Dated at Perth this 10th day of September 2021 
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AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  
TO THE MEMBERS OF  

CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED 
 

 
As auditor for the audit of Civil Service Association of Western Australia Incorporated for the 
year ended 30 June 2021, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the 
year ended 30 June 2021 there has been: 
 

i. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 

audit. 

 

 

 

 

AMW AUDIT 
Chartered Accountants 

 
 
-------------------------------------------- 
Martin Shone 
Director & Registered Company Auditor 

RO Registration number AA2017/8 

 

Dated at Perth, Western Australia this  13th  day of  September  2021 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 
 

3 

 

 
 
 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT                                                                                                                                 
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
INCORPORATED 
 
Report on the Financial Report 
Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Civil Service Association of Western 
Australia Incorporated (the “Association”) which comprises the statement of financial position as 
at 30 June 2021, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of 
significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the statement by members of the 
committee. 
 
In my opinion: 
(1) The special purpose financial report of the Civil Service Association of Western Australia 

Incorporated is in accordance with:  
 a. the Industrial Relations Act 1979 (WA) ("IR Act”) and Industrial Relations Commission 

Regulations 2005 (WA) ("IRC Regulations”), including:  
  (i) giving a true and fair view of the Association’s financial position as at 30 June 

2021 and of its performance for the year ended on that date;  
  (ii) complying with applicable Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian 

Accounting Interpretations); 
  (iii) No person has contravened or failed to comply with s. 74 of the IR Act; and  
 b. the financial statements also complies with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as disclosed in Note 1.   
(2) The Association has kept satisfactory accounting records for the financial year including 

records of:  
 a. the sources and nature of the Association’s income, including membership 

subscriptions and other income from members; and 
 b. the nature of and reasons for the Association’s expenditure. 

(3) All the information and explanations that officers or employees of the Association were 
required to provide have been provided;  

(4) There was no deficiency, failure or shortcoming in any matter referred to in (1) to (3) above; 
and 

(5) Management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
Association’s financial statements is appropriate. 
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Basis for opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of my report. I am independent of the Association in accordance with 
the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the 
financial report in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. 
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting  
We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The 
financial report has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the committee of management’s 
financial reporting responsibilities.  As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for 
another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
The Committee of Management is responsible for the other information. The other information 
obtained at the date of this auditor’s report is in the Operating Report accompanying the financial 
report. 
My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report 
in this regard 

 
Responsibilities of Committee of Management for the Financial Report 
The Committee of Management of the Association is responsible for the preparation of the 
financial report in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 of the financial 
statements and for such internal control as committee of management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial report, the Committee of Management is responsible for assessing the 
Association’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Committee of 
Management either intend to liquidate the Association or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Association’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Committee of Management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Committee of Management’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Association’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my 
opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Association to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Association to express an opinion on the financial 
report. I am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Association 
audit. I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion. 

I communicate with the Committee of Management regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that I identify during my audit. 
I declare that I am an approved auditor, a member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New 
Zealand and hold a current Public Practice Certificate. 
 
 
 
 
AMW AUDIT 
Chartered Accountants 
Address: Unit 8, 210 Winton Road, Joondalup, Western Australia 
 
 
 
MARTIN SHONE 
Director & Registered Company Auditor  
 
Dated at Perth, Western Australia this 13th day of  September  2021 
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CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATIONOF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED 
 
 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 
 

 NOTES CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  ASSOCIATION 
  2021  2020  2021  2020 
  $  $  $  $ 
         
Revenues from 
continuing operations 

 
2 8,918,488  8,852,495  8,918,488  9,254,866 

         
Employee benefits 
expense 

 
(7,266,890)  (7,575,104)  (7,266,890)  (7,575,104) 

Legal fees  (89,450)  (91,860)  (89,450)  (91,860) 
Depreciation expense 3 (380,774)  (400,235)  (380,774)  (400,235) 
Gain/ (loss) on 
disposal of fixed 
assets             -  1,620  

                   
-  1,620 

Bad debt expense  (14,283)  -  (37,283)  - 
Other expenses from 
ordinary activities  (1,467,042)  (1,581,643)  (1,472,756)  (1,555,387) 
Operating result 
before income tax 
expense 

 
 

4 
 

 (299,951)           
(794,727)       

(328,665)        
(366,100) 

                               
Income tax expense  

              
4 

             
- 

               
- 

         
- 

        
- 

 
Operating result for 
the year 

 
(299,951)  (794,727)  (328,665)  (366,100) 

 
Other Comprehensive 
Income 

        

 
Other comprehensive 
income for the year 
net of tax 

 
 

 
                     

- 

  
                   

- 

  
                   

- 

  
                   

- 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year  (299,951)  (794,727)  (328,665)  (366,100) 
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

 
CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATIONOF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED 

 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2021 

 
 NOTE CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  ASSOCIATION 
  2021  2020  2021  2020 
  $  $  $  $ 
CURRENT ASSETS         
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,621,503  1,825,613  1,620,817  1,825,611 
Trade and other receivables 6 644,043  460,272  646,343  491,322 
TOTAL CURRENT 
ASSETS 

  
2,265,546 

      
2,285,885 

  
2,267,160 

   
2,316,933 

         
NON-CURRENT ASSETS         
Receivables 6 -  -  -  - 
Other financial assets 7 -  -  -  - 
Property, plant and 
equipment 

          
8 

    
5,426,212 

     
5,630,922 

    
5,426,212 

   
5,630,922 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT 
ASSETS 

 5,426,212  5,630,922  5,426,212  5,630,922 

TOTAL ASSETS  7,691,758  7,916,807  7,693,372  7,947,855 

         
CURRENT LIABILITIES         
Trade and other payables 9 750,180        738,569  749,494  738,569 
Provisions 10 1,399,015     1,348,363  1,399,015   1,348,363 
Income tax provision 4 -    -      -     - 

TOTAL CURRENT 
LIABILITIES 

 2,149,195  2,086,932  2,148,509  2,086,932 
         
NON-CURRENT 
LIABILITIES 

        

Trade and other payables 9 -  -  -  34 

Provisions 10 155,221  142,582  155,221  142,582 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT 
LIABILITIES 

 155,221        142,582  155,221      142,616 

TOTAL LIABILITIES     2,304,416  2,229,514   2,303,730  2,229,548 

NET ASSETS  5,387,342  5,687,293  5,389,642  5,718,307 
         
EQUITY         
Retained earnings 11 5,387,342  5,687,293  5,389,642  5,718,307 

TOTAL EQUITY  5,387,342  5,687,293  5,389,642  5,718,307 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED  
 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 
 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY          ASSOCIATION 
 
 
Total equity at the beginning 
of the financial year 

2021 
$ 

          
5,687,293       

2020 
$ 

            
6,482,020 

2021 
$ 

          
5,718,307 

2020 
$ 

            
6,084,407 

     
Operating result for the year (299,951) (794,727) (328,665)     (366,100) 
     
Other comprehensive income - - -              - 
     
Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

 
(299,951) 

              
(794,727) 

         
(328,665) 

               
(366,100) 

     
Total equity at the end of the 
financial year 

 
5,387,342 

 
5,687,293       

 

          
5,389,642 

 
   5,718,307 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED  
 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 
 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  ASSOCIATION 
 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 $  $  $  $ 
        
Cash Flows from Operating 
Activities 

       

Receipts from customers and 
members 8,734,200  8,783,272  8,739,950  9,140,982 

Payments to suppliers and 
employees (8,779,525)  (9,186,768)  (8,785,959)  (9,359,497) 

Interest received 17,279  24,528  17,279  24,528 
Tax Paid -  (678)  -  - 

Net cash outflow from operating 
activities (Note 14 (b)) 

       
(28,046)        

(379,646)        
(28,730)        

(193,987) 
        
Cash Flows from Investing 
Activities        

Payments for property, plant & 
equipment 

      
(176,064)        

(182,883)       
(176,064)        

(182,883) 
Proceeds from sale of 
property, plant & equipment  -  8,182  -  8,182 

Net cash outflow from 
investing activities 

      
(176,064)       

(174,701)      
(176,064)        

(174,701) 
        
Cash Flows from Financing 
Activities        

Repayment of borrowings  -  -  -  - 

Net cash outflow from 
financing activities 

-  -  -  - 

Net decreases in cash and 
cash equivalents held 

     
(204,110)       

(554,347)      
(204,794)        

(368,688) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
the beginning of year 

     
1,825,613      

2,379,960      
1,825,611      

2,194,299 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
end of year (Note 14 (a)) 

    
1,621,503      

1,825,613      
1,620,817      

1,825,611 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.



CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

a. Basis of preparation 
This special purpose financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis in 
accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(AIFRSs), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Boards and Urgent Issues Group Interpretations. The going concern basis assumes 
continuity of normal business activities, realisation of assets and the settlement of 
liabilities in the ordinary course of business for the next 12 months from the date of 
signing the financial report. 
The financial report covers the consolidated entity of Civil Service Association of Western 
Australia Incorporated and its controlled entities and Civil Service Association of Western 
Australia Incorporated as an individual entity.   
Civil Service Association of Western Australia Incorporated is a Trade Union registered 
under the Western Australia Industrial Relations Act 1979. 
 

 Compliance with IFRSs 
Australian Accounting Standards include AIFRSs. Compliance with AIFRSs ensures that 
the consolidated financial statements and notes of Civil Service Association of Western 
Australia Incorporated comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).  

  
         New accounting standards and interpretations 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for 30 June 2021 reporting periods. These standards have been reviewed but 
are not considered to affect the financial statements of Civil Service Association of 
Western Australia Incorporated.  

 
Historical Cost Convention 
These financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis under the historical 
cost convention. 
The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the 
consolidated entity in the preparation of the financial report.  The accounting policies 
have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated. 

 
b. Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the 
Association and all entities controlled by the Association.  A list of these controlled 
entities appears in Note 7.  All inter-entity balances and unrealised profits resulting from 
inter-entity transactions at reporting date have been eliminated. 
 

c. Income Tax 
The Association is exempt from the payment of income tax under the provisions of 
Section 50-15 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 
In relation to the subsidiaries of Civil Service Association of Western Australia 
Incorporated that are taxable entities, the income tax expense or revenue for the period 
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the national income 
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses. 

  



CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax 
rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities settled, based on 
those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The 
relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable 
temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made 
for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a 
liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary 
differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the 
time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax 
losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences and losses. 
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between 
the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the entity 
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable 
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the 
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity 
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity 
are also recognised directly in equity. 
 

d. Investments 
Investments in controlled entities are stated in the Association's accounts at cost.  The 
carrying amount of investments is reviewed annually to ensure it is not in excess of the 
recoverable amount of these investments. 

 
e. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less depreciation.  Items of property, 
plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives commencing from 
the time the asset is held ready for use. 
The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the 
proceeds of disposal, and is included in the results of the year of the disposal. 
Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding freehold land, 
are depreciated on a diminishing value basis over their estimated useful lives. 
The depreciation rates used for each class of asset are as follows: 

• Buildings and improvements  1.5% - 11.25% 
• Plant and equipment   2.0% - 40% 
• Motor vehicles    18.75%  
 
The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date. 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(f)).  
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

f. Impairment of Assets 
At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 
been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being 
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the 
asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable 
amount is expensed to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 
g. Employee Benefits 

Provision is made for the Association’s liability for employee entitlements arising from 
services rendered by employees up to balance date. These entitlements include wages 
and salaries, annual leave, and long service leave. Employee entitlements have been 
measured at the current values of leave owing to the respective employee, plus related 
on-costs. The calculation has been made for all employees from the date of 
commencement and the liability is classified as current for all employees who have 
completed five years of continuous service at the reporting date. 

h. Segment Reporting 
A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular 
economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of 
the segments operating in other economic environments. The entity operates in the one 
geographical segment being Australia and operates predominantly in the one industry 
segment being union services. A business segment is identified for a group of assets 
and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and 
returns that are different to those of other business segments.  Revenue is derived from 
the following: 

 Membership subscriptions     Property rental 
 Insurance agent services     Financial services 
 

i. Cash and cash equivalents 
For cash flow statement purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts, 
where applicable, are shown within borrowings in the current liabilities on the statement 
of financial position. 

 
j. Trade and other Receivables 

Receivables to be settled within 60 days are carried at amounts due. Trade receivables 
are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less 
provision for doubtful debts.  
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are 
known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for doubtful receivables is 
established when there is objective evidence that the Association will not be able to 
collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. 

 
k. Operating Leases 

Payments made under operating lease are charged against the results in equal 
instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease term. 
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NOTE 1 - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

 
l. Trade and other payables 

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services 
received, whether or not billed to the Association or consolidated entity.  Accounts 
payable are normally settled within 60 days. 
 

m. Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
Membership income is recognised on an accrual basis. The rendering of services is 
recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customer. Interest revenue is 
recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to the 
financial assets.   

 
n. Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, 
unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. In 
this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense. 
 

o. Comparative Figures 
Where required by Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in 
presentation for the current year. 
 

p. Lease Income 
Lease income from operating leases is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. 
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CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  ASSOCIATION 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 $  $  $  $ 

NOTE 2 - REVENUE 
        
Revenue from continuing operations        
- Subscription income 7,820,418  7,524,099  7,820,418  7,524,099 
- Commission 129,600  134,316  129,600  134,416 
- Lease income 929,279  1,159,928  929,279  1,159,928 
- Other 21,912  9,524  21,912  411,895 
 8,901,209  8,827,967  8,901,209  9,230,338 
Other revenue        
- Interest      17,279  24,528  17,279  24,528 
        

Total Revenue 8,918,488  8,852,495  8,918,488  9,254,866 
 
 
NOTE 3 – EXPENSES 

    

        
Loss before income tax includes the following 
specific expenses: 

    

        
Employee expenses        
        
Holders of office        
 - Wages & salaries 353,188  353,075  353,188  353,075 
 - Superannuation 39,875  38,443  39,875  38,443 
 - Leave & other entitlements  14,958  (11,121)  14,958  (11,121) 
   408,021      380,397     408,021      380,397 
        
        
Employees other than office 
holders 

       

 - Wages & salaries 5,573,651  5,879,121  5,573,651  5,879,121 
 - Superannuation 683,605  681,760  683,605  681,760 
 - Leave & other entitlements 48,333  180,034  48,333  180,034 
 - Separation & redundancies -  -  -  - 
 6,305,589  6,740,915  6,305,589  6,740,915 

        
                                                 
Total employee expenses 
 

 6,713,610  7,121,312  6,713,610  7,121,312 
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CONSOLIDATED                    ASSOCIATION 

 

 
 
NOTE 4 – INCOME TAX EXPENSE   
 

    

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 
expense 

   
(299,951) 

       
(794,727) 

     
(328,665) 

      
(366,100) 

(a) tax at 27.5% -  (218,550)  -  - 
Less: Tax exempt (loss)/ income -  (218,550)  -  - 
Less: Utilisation of tax losses 
not previously recognised. 

 
 - 

  
 - 

  
 - 

  
- 

 
Income tax expense 

 
- 

    
        - 

  
 - 

  
  - 

        
(b) Deferred tax asset not 
brought to account, the benefits 
of which will only be realised if 
the conditions for deductibility 
set out in Note 1(c) occur 

       

-  tax losses      -  -  -  - 
-  timing differences      -    -  -  - 
      -  -  -  - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 ENTITY     
 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 $  $  $  $ 
 
NOTE 3 – EXPENSES (cont’d) 
 

       

Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment 380,774  400,235      380,774  400,235 

Affiliation fees – Unions WA 103,803  103,541  103,803  103,541 
Auditors' remuneration 
  - audit 

       
15,375           

16,000          
15,375         

16,000 
Legal costs  89,450   91,860        89,450  91,860 

Net loss/ (gain) on sale of fixed 
assets   8,182  (1,620)        8,182  (1,620) 

Donations 1,000  3,006  1,000  3,006 
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 CONSOLIDATED  

ENTITY 
 ASSOCIATION 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 $  $  $  $ 
 
NOTE 5 – CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 
 

       

Cash at bank 1,619,503  1,823,613  1,618,817  1,823,611 
Cash on hand 2,000  2,000  2,000  2,000 

 1,621,503  1,825,613  1,620,817  1,825,611 

 
 
 
NOTE 6 – TRADE AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES 

       

        
Current        
Trade and other debtors 548,896  381,887  547,196  412,937 
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (14,283)  -  (37,283)  - 
 534,613  381,887  536,913  412,937 
        
Prepayments 109,430  78,385  109,430  78,385 

 644,043  460,272  646,343  491,322 

 
There are related party debtors of $6,055 (2020: $16,198) for CPSU, the Community and 
Public Sector Union (PSU Group) within trade and other debtors. 
 
No debtors have been identified that will be receivable in more than six months. 
 
        
Non-Current        
Loan to Intra Group Entity        
- Civil Service Holdings Pty Ltd -                 -  -  - 
Less: Allowance for doubtful 
debts 

                 
- 

                 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

                -          -  -                 -                
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 CONSOLIDATED  
ENTITY 

 ASSOCIATION 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 $  $  $  $ 
NOTE 7 – OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS       
Shares in controlled entity (at cost) -  -  -  - 
Less: Provision for diminution of 
investment 

 
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

               
-                  

                  
- 

                   
- 

                  
- 

 
The Association has fully provided for their investment in Civil Service Holdings Pty Ltd, as the 
Association do not consider the balance recoverable. 
 
The parent entity of the consolidated entity is the Civil Service Association of Western Australia 
Incorporated.  The Association controls the following entities: 
 
ENTITY        COUNTRY OF  
     INCORPORATION  OWNED % 2021 2020 
        2021 2020 $ $ 
Civil Service Holdings Pty Ltd   Australia 100 100            -  - 
Civil Service Insurance Agency Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 - - 
CSA Services (WA) Pty Ltd   Australia 100 100  - - 
     

The result of the consolidated entity, after provision for income tax was contributed by the 
following entities: 
 2021  2020 
 $  $ 
Civil Service Association of WA Inc (328,665)  (366,100) 
Civil Service Holdings Pty Ltd -  341,000 
Civil Service Insurance Agency Pty Ltd -  (503,081) 
CSA Services (WA) Pty Ltd -  (266,546) 
    

Loss for the year (328,665)  (794,727) 
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 CONSOLIDATED ENTITY  ASSOCIATION 
 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 $  $  $  $ 

 
NOTE 8 – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
 

       

Land - at cost 365,147  365,147  365,147  365,147 
        
Buildings - at cost   10,368,973  10,290,519   10,368,973  10,290,519 
Less: Accumulated 
depreciation (5,806,775)   (5,538,807)  (5,806,775)  (5,538,807) 

    4,562,198  4,751,712     4,562,198  4,751,712 
Furniture, fittings and 
equipment 
 - at cost 2,843,679  2,746,069  2,843,679  2,746,069 
Less: Accumulated 
depreciation (2,488,812)  (2,409,229)  (2,488,812)  (2,409,229) 

 354,867  336,840  354,867  336,840 
        
Motor vehicles - at cost 236,874  236,874  236,874  236,874 
Less: Accumulated 
depreciation (92,874)  (59,651)  (92,874)  (59,651) 

 144,000  177,223  144,000  177,223 

 5,426,212  5,630,922  5,426,212  5,630,922 
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NOTE 8 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d) 
 
Movements in carrying amounts 2021 
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between 
beginning and the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 
 

Consolidated entity 
  

Land Building Plant & 
Equip 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Total 

Balance at the beginning of 
the year  365,147   4,751,712   336,840   177,223   5,630,922  
Additions  -   78,454   97,610    -   176,064  
Depreciation expense  -   (267,968)  (79,583)  (33,223)  (380,774) 
Carrying amount at the end 
of the year  365,147   4,562,198   354,867   144,000   5,426,212  

      
Association 
 

Land Building Plant & 
Equip 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Total 

Balance at the beginning of 
the year  365,147   4,751,712   336,840   177,223   5,630,922  
Additions  -   78,454   97,610    -   176,064  
Depreciation expense  -   (267,968)  (79,583)  (33,223)  (380,774) 
Carrying amount at the end 
of the year  365,147   4,562,198   354,867   144,000   5,426,212  

      
Movements in Carrying amounts 2020 
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between 
beginning and the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 
 

Consolidated entity 
  

Land Building Plant & 
Equip 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Total 

Balance at the beginning of 
the year 

   
365,147 

  
5,027,158 

     
272,174 

    
190,357 

   
5,854,836 

Additions -     16,493 133,623 32,767 182,883 
Disposals - net - - - (6,562) (6,562) 
Depreciation expense - (291,939) (68,957) (39,339) (400,235) 
Carrying amount at the end 
of the year 365,147 4,751,712 336,840 177,223 5,630,922 

      
Association 
 

Land Building Plant & 
Equip 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Total 

Balance at the beginning of 
the year 

    
365,147 

  
5,027,158 

     
272,174 

    
190,357 

   
5,854,836 

Additions - 16,493 133,623 32,767     182,883 
Disposals - net - -    - (6,562) (6,562) 
Depreciation expense - (291,939)    (68,957) (39,339) (400,235) 
Carrying amount at the end 
of the year 365,147 4,751,712 336,840 177,223 5,630,922 
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CONSOLIDATED  

ENTITY 
 ASSOCIATION 

2021  2020  2021  2020 
$  $  $  $ 

 
NOTE 9 – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
Current 
Sundry creditors and accruals 750,180  738,569  749,494  738,569 

 750,180  738,569  749,494  738,569 

 
Non-Current 
Creditor – other group 
company 

                  
- 

                   
- 

        
- 

        
34 

 -  -  -  34 

 
 
NOTE 10 - PROVISIONS 
        
Employee provisions – current       
        
Office holders        
- Provision for annual leave 53,828  43,975  53,828  43,975 
- Provision for long service 
leave 101,191 

 
98,935 

 
101,191 

 
98,935 

 155,019  142,910  155,019  142,910 

Employees other than office holders      
- Provision for annual leave 565,235  578,939  565,235  578,939 
- Provision for long service 
leave 

     
678,761 

       
626,514 

      
678,761 

       
626,514 

 1,243,996  1,205,453  1,243,996  1,205,453 

Total employee provisions – 
current 1,399,015 

 
1,348,363 

 
1,399,015 

 
1,348,363 

        
Employee provisions - Non-current       
        
Provision for long service leave –        
- office holders -  -  -  - 
- Employees other than office 
  holders 155,221 

 
142,582 

 
155,221 

 
142,582 

Total employee provisions – 
non-current 155,221 

 
142,582 

 
155,221 

 
142,582 

Number of employees at year 
end 74 

 
64 

 
74 

 
64 
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NOTE 11 – RETAINED EARNINGS  
 
 
 

CONSOLIDATED  
ENTITY 

 ASSOCIATION 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 $  $  $  $ 
        
Retained earnings 5,387,342  5,687,293  5,389,642  5,718,307 

 
 

NOTE 12 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
(a) Executive Committee 

 
The names of the persons who held office as members of the Executive Committee 
at any time during the reporting year were: 

 
Name 

 
Position 

 

Rikki Hendon Branch Secretary  Elected 1st March 2021 
Melanie Bray Branch Assistant Secretary  Elected 1st March 2021 
Brian Dodds Branch President Vacated position due to branch 

election declaration 1st March 2021 
Bruce Hawkins Branch Treasurer Vacated position due to branch 

election declaration 1st March 2021 
Matthew 
Abrahamson 

Branch Vice President Vacated position due to branch 
election declaration 1st March 2021 

Becky Anderson Branch Vice President Elected 1st March 2021 
Matthew 
Abrahamson 

Branch President Declared elected 1st March 2021 

Lewis Stevens Branch Vice President Declared elected 1st March 2021 
John Lamb Branch Treasurer Declared elected 1st March 2021 
   
Lewis Stevens Executive Councillor Vacated position due to branch 

election declaration 21st April 2021 
Grant Sutherland Executive Councillor Vacated position due to branch 

election declaration 21st April 2021 
Denise Henden Executive Councillor Re-Elected 21st April 2021 
Kurt Mayerhofer Executive Councillor Re-Elected 21st April 2021 
Leanne Reid Executive Councillor Re-Elected 21st April 2021 
Jeremy Mowe Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 
Rod Schoneveld Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 
Anette Bohm Executive Councillor Elected 21st April 2021 
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CONSOLIDATED    
ENTITY 

 ASSOCIATION 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 $  $  $  $ 

 
(b) Remuneration of Executive Committee Members 
 

 The aggregate amount 
of remuneration 
received or receivable 
by members of the 
committee (including 
salaries) as listed in 
Note 12 (a) in respect 
of the management of 
the Association.   408,021  

 
 
 
 

380,397  

 
 
 

  408,021  

 
 
 

380,397 

 This remuneration is detailed in note 3. 

 (c)  Other Related Party Transactions 
 

During the year, the ultimate parent entity, Civil Service Association of WA 
Incorporated, charged management, referral fees and rent to controlled entities to the 
value of NIL (2020: $5,750).  These fees were based on commercial terms and 
conditions. 

 
 
NOTE 13 – COMMITMENTS 
 
The consolidated entity has entered into non-cancellable operating leases with lease terms in 
excess of one year in respect of office equipment. 
 
At reporting date the aggregate lease commitment was as follows: 
 
Operating Lease Commitments 
 

 CONSOLIDATED  
ENTITY 

 ASSOCIATION 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 $  $  $  $ 
(i) due within one year 8,580  8,580  8,580  8,580 
(ii) due later than one year  

and less than two years 8,580  8,580        8,580   8,580 
(iii)due later than two years  

and less than five years 7,150  15,730         7,150       15,730 

 24,310  32,890  24,310  32,890 
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NOTE 14 – CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

 
     (a) Reconciliation of Cash 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement 
is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows: 
 

 CONSOLIDATED    
ENTITY 

 ASSOCIATION 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 
 $  $  $  $ 
        
Cash and cash equivalents 594,840  512,792  594,154  512,790 
Term deposits 1,026,663  1,312,821  1,026,663  1,312,821 

 1,621,503  1,825,613  1,620,817  1,825,611 

 
(b) Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow/ (outflow) from 
operating activities 
 

Loss for the year (299,951)  (794,727)  (328,665)  (366,100) 
        
Non-cash flows in surplus 
from ordinary activities 

       

Depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment 380,774  400,235  380,774  400,235 
Loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment -  (1,620)           -  (1,620) 
Bad debt expense 14,283  -  37,283  - 
        
Change in assets and 
liabilities 

       

(Increase)/decrease in trade 
and other debtors (167,009)  

      
(60,729)  

       
(161,259)  

     
(105,490) 

(Increase)/decrease in 
prepayments (31,045)  16,034  

     
(31,045)  

        
16,134 

Increase/(decrease) in trade 
and other payables 11,611  (107,074)  10,891  

     
(306,059) 

Increase/(decrease) in 
provisions for employee 
leave benefits 63,291  168,913  63,291  

                                                            
168,913 

Increase/(decrease) in 
income tax provision -  (678)  -  - 

Net cash outflow from 
operating activities (28,046)  (379,646)  (28,730)  (193,987) 
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NOTE 15 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
(i) Interest Rate Risk 
The group is exposed to movements in market interest rates on short-term deposits. The policy 
is to monitor the interest rate yield curve out to 120 days to ensure a balance is maintained 
between the liquidity of cash assets and the interest rate return: 
 
Consolidated Entity 
 

30/06/21 Weighted 
Average 

Floating Fixed Asset Rate Maturing 

 Effective 
Interest 

Interest 
Rate 

Within 6 
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Financial Assets Rate $ $ $ $ $ 
Cash 0% 2,000 - - - - 
Cash 0.05% to 0.1% 502,925 - - - - 
Cash 0.6% 8,379     
Cash 1.3% 81,536 - - - - 
Term Deposit 2.7% to 2.8% - 20,000 1,006,663 - - 
  594,840 20,000 1,006,663 - - 

 
 

30/06/20 Weighted 
Average 

Floating Fixed Asset Rate Maturing 

 Effective 
Interest 

Interest 
Rate 

Within 6 
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Financial Assets Rate $ $ $ $ $ 
Cash 0% 2,000 - - - - 
Cash 0.05% to 0.1% 455,124 - - - - 
Cash 0.6% 8,378     
Term Deposit 1.3% 47,290 - - - - 
Term Deposit 2.7% to 2.8% - 20,000 1,292,821 - - 
  512,792 20,000 1,292,821 - - 
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NOTE 15 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
Association 
 

30/06/21 Weighted 
Average 

Floating Fixed Asset Rate Maturing 

 Effective 
Interest 

Interest 
Rate 

Within 6 
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Financial Assets Rate $ $ $ $ $ 
Cash 0% 2,000 - - - - 
Cash 0.05% to 0.1% 502,239 - - - - 
Cash 0.6% 8,379 - - - - 
Cash 1.3% 81,536 - - - - 
Term Deposit 2.4% to 2.8% - 20,000 1,006,663 - - 
  594,154 20,000 1,006,663 - - 
 
 

30/06/20 Weighted 
Average 

Floating Fixed Asset Rate Maturing 

 Effective 
Interest 

Interest 
Rate 

Within 6 
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Financial Assets Rate $ $ $ $ $ 
Cash 0% 2,000 - - - - 
Cash 0.05% to 0.1%   455,124 - - - - 
Cash 0.6% 8,378 - - - - 
Term Deposit 1.3% 47,288 - - - - 
Term Deposit 2.4% to 2.8% - 20,000 1,292,821 - - 
  512,790 20,000 1,292,821 - - 

 
 
(ii) Credit Risk 

The group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of collateral or other 
security, in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net 
of any provisions for doubtful debts, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and 
notes to the financial statements. 
The group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor group or 
group of debtors under financial instruments entered into by the Association. 
 
The effect of a 1% movement in interest rates on $1,620,817 would be an extra $16,208 
income if interest rates rise or cost if interest rates fall. 

 
 
(iii) Market Risk 
      All trade and other payables are due within 3 months.   



CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 
 

26 

 
 
NOTE 16 – ASSOCIATION DETAILS 
 
The principal place of business of the Association is: 
 
 Level 5, 445 Hay Street, Perth Western Australia 6000. 
 
 
NOTE 17 – EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 
 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is ongoing and while it has been financially negative 
for the Association up to 30 June 2021, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, 
positive or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is 
dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, such as 
maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic 
stimulus that may be provided. 
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2021 that has significantly affected, 
or may significantly affect the Association's operations, the results of those operations, or the 
Association's state of affairs in future financial years. 
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AUDITORS’ DISCLAIMER 
 

TO THE MEMBERS OF CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
INCORPORATED 
 
 
The additional financial data presented in the following pages have been extracted from the 
books and records of Civil Service Association of Western Australia Incorporated. Some of 
these accounts have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our statutory 
audit for the year ended 30 June 2021. Readers should note that our statutory audit did not 
cover all details of the additional financial data. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion in 
such financial data and no warranty of accuracy or reliability is given. Neither the firm nor any 
member or employee of the firm undertakes responsibility in any way whatsoever to any person 
(other than Civil Service Association of Western Australia Incorporated) in respect of such 
data, including any errors or omission therein however caused.  
 
 
Dated this 13th day of September 2021 
 
AMW (AUDIT) PTY LTD 
 
 
 
 
AMW AUDIT     MARTIN SHONE 
Chartered Accountants              Director & Registered Company Auditor 
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CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED 
 

DETAILED OPERATING STATEMENT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 
 
 ASSOCIATION 
 2021  2020 
 $  $ 
INCOME    
Members' subscriptions 7,820,418  7,524,099 
Interest on investments 17,279  24,528 
Miscellaneous income 21,912  406,145 
Management fees -  5,750 
Lease income 929,279  1,159,928 
Commission income 129,600  134,416 

TOTAL INCOME 8,918,488  9,254,866 
    
EXPENDITURE    
Advertising 3,695  3,595 
Affiliation fees 103,803  103,541 
Audit & accounting 
Bad debt expense 

12,375 
37,283 

 13,000 
- 

Bank charges 68,803  64,566 
Books & Publications 5,699  5,106 
Cleaning & domestic 122,484  112,673 
Computer expenses 241,261  203,114 
Council expenses 36,815  37,770 
Courier services 
Covid 19 expenses 

55 
8,390 

 62 
- 

Depreciation 380,774  400,235 
Donations 900  2,705 
Fuel, light & power     139,003     172,488 
General expenses 24,725  25,746 
Insurance 66,281  62,947 
Journal Publication costs 1,534  741 
Journey cover 97,977  82,309 
Legal fees 89,450  91,860 
Maintenance 168,772  210,780 
Media monitoring 794  1,060 
Membership fees & levies - shoprite  11,052  11,114 
Motor vehicle costs 37,701  35,755 
Photocopy cost 36,635  46,713 
Postage 9,977  11,748 
Promotions -  4,939 
Rates & taxes 96,944  101,284 
Regional visits 267  6,831 
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CIVIL SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA INCORPORATED 
 

DETAILED OPERATING STATEMENT (Cont’d) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 
  

ASSOCIATION 
 2021  2020 
 $  $ 
    
Security 1,616  5,970 
Special projects       15,255         76,021 
Staff amenities 10,903  9,452 
Staff counselling 9,953  7,999 
Staff expenses 7,266,890  7,575,104 
Staff training 37,402  36,909 
Stationery 11,019  11,456 
Storage facility 10,355  10,042 
Subscriptions 11,012  9,530 
Telephone 43,702  46,004 
Travelling expenses 703  818 
Web development costs 7,695  6,970 
Workplace representatives training       9,017          13,629 
Loss on sale of assets       8,182  (1,620) 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 9,247,153  9,620,966 
    
LOSS FOR THE YEAR (328,665)  (366,100) 
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Executive  SummarySummary

Brian Dodds
Branch President

Rikki Hendon
Branch Secretary

Melanie Bray
Branch Asst Secretary

The 2020/21 Annual Report outlines the activities of the Community and Public Sector Union/Civil Service 
Association	of	Western	Australia	(CPSU/CSA)	for	the	past	financial	year.

After the disruption and delays caused by the global COVID-19 pandemic, implementation of the Union’s 
2020-2022	Strategic	Plan	was	able	to	begin	in	earnest	in	the	second	half	of	2020.	This	required	the	
development	and	adoption	of	new	ways	of	working	within	the	Union,	and	the	discipline	of	methodically	
putting	theory	into	practice.	While	change	is	always	challenging,	we	are	beginning	to	see	the	fruits	of	our	
labour,	with	early	progress	toward	our	Strategic	Plan	ambitions	becoming	evident.	Delegates	are	growing	as	
union	leaders	in	their	workplaces,	and	members	are	working	together	to	win	on	the	issues	that	matter.

The under-resourcing of public services is key amongst those issues, and it has been pleasing to see 
members	take	action	to	address	staffing	shortfalls	and	excessive	workloads.	Delegates	at	Banksia	Hill	
Detention	Centre	led	member	action	for	safe	staffing	and	better	practice,	and	Child	Protection	members	
launched	their	Every	Child	Counts	campaign,	drawing	the	risks	of	understaffing	their	critical	work	with	
vulnerable children and families into the media spotlight.

Members and delegates also made the bold strategic decision to depart from the Union’s usual approach 
to	bargaining	a	two	or	three	year	Your	Union	Agreement	and	instead	pursue	a	12-month	Agreement.	This	
positions	the	CPSU/CSA	to	join	forces	with	other	public	sector	unions	to	overcome	the	McGowan	Labor	
government’s	restrictive	public	sector	wages	policy	in	2022.	Together	with	our	partners	in	the	Public	Sector	
Alliance,	CPSU/CSA	members	will	need	to	be	ready	to	demonstrate	our	power	through	collective	action	in	the	
coming	financial	year.	

As	this	financial	year	draws	to	a	close,	the	spectre	of	COVID-19	remains	ever	present.	We	endured	several	
short-sharp	lockdowns	in	the	first	half	of	2021,	during	which	we	were	able	to	extend	and	improve	protections	
to	ensure	no	financial	disadvantage	to	public	sector	workers	unable	to	attend	the	office	or	work	from	home.	
The stalled rollout of the national vaccination program continues to place the health and safety of public 
sector	workers	-	and	the	community	at	large	-	at	risk.	Indications	are	ongoing	advocacy	will	be	required	with	
the government and employers on this issue in months to come. 

As	always,	it	is	an	honour	and	a	privilege	to	lead	the	Union	that	represents	you,	the	public	sector	workers	
who	keep	WA	going,	come	rain,	hail	or	shine.	I	look	forward	to	continuing	to	work	with	you	to	build	and	
exercise	your	collective	power	to	win	protections,	good	wages	and	investment	in	the	services	and	support	
you deliver to Western Australians in 2021/22.

Matthew Abrahamson
President

Rikki Hendon
Branch Secretary

executive summary
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Our PurposePurpose

The CPSU/CSA is a union of members 
working	to	deliver	public	services	in	
WA. The purpose of our union is to 

develop	the	capacity	and	confidence	
of members to collectively build and 
maintain	power	in	their	workplaces.	

We	exercise	this	power	to	win	
improved	industrial	and	workplace	
rights, fairness and dignity. Strong 

union	workplaces	deliver	better	
public services for WA.

annual report
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Theory of UnionUnion

Equity // We	acknowledge	
imbalances	of	power	within	our	
society and seek for all people to 
be able to access the opportunities 
and support they need to reach 
their full potential and lead their 
lives	with	dignity.

Justice // We pursue fair and just 
treatment for people in and beyond 
the	workplace.

Respect // We celebrate diversity, 
genuinely listen to each individual 
voice,	and	treat	all	people	with	
respect and dignity.

Solidarity // We support and 
stand	with	others	in	their	struggle	
for justice.

Integrity //	We	act	with	
transparency and accountability, and 
always	in	the	interests	of	members.

Our ValuesValues

If	we	organise	and	
mobilise members to 
build action at scale, 
and	align	worker	and	
community interests, 
we	will	pressure	the	

government to improve 
public sector jobs and 

service delivery.

executive summary
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Strategic Work Areas: 
Strong, powerful, plannedStrong, powerful, planned



Rikki Hendon (Branch Secretary) with delegates 
Becky Anderson (Vice President), Bernie Andrews, 

Catherine Ranford and Kate Smith preparing to meet 
with Minister McGurk at Dumas House (October 2020)

Silent Vigil 10 September 2020
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Breakthrough	campaigns	are	critical	to	realising	the	CPSU/CSA’s	ambition	to	grow	a	strong,	active	membership	
that	builds	lasting	power	to	influence	decision	makers	and	win	under	its	Strategic	Plan.	They	seek	to	achieve	this	
through	the	implementation	of	effective	campaign	strategies	and	structures	in	areas	with	widely	and	deeply	felt	

issues,	the	recruitment	and	development	of	workplace	leaders,	and	the	recruitment	and	mobilisation	of	members	to	
take	action	and	demonstrate	power.

The	Breakthrough	team	was	established	in	2020	to	facilitate	this	new	way	of	working	and	consists	of:

• A Lead Organiser
• Organisers
• A	dedicated	Industrial	Officer
• A	dedicated	Community	Campaigns	Officer.

Throughout the 2020-21 Financial Year, the Breakthrough team began to develop a Breakthrough Campaigns model for 
the	CPSU/CSA	through	the	iterative	process	of	learning	through	doing	and	adapting	approaches	based	on	new	insights.

Breakthrough CampaignsCampaigns

EVERY CHILD 
COUNTS CAMPAIGN
The ‘Every Child Counts’ campaign sought 
to highlight the under-resourcing of the 
Child Protection and Family Support (CPFS) 
system,	not	only	within	the	Department	of	
Communities but to the government and 
the WA community. Our original goal and 
focus	was	to	utilise	member	action	and	
political	leverage	to	convince	the	McGowan	
government to make an ongoing commitment 
to properly resource CPFS, in order to properly 
meet the needs of the community.

Following	delays	caused	by	the	COVID-19	
pandemic,	the	campaign	launched	with	a	Silent	
Vigil	at	Parliament	House	which	attracted	
strong	media	interest.	The	Vigil	was	well	
attended by members and campaign supporters 
and made the front page of the West Australian 
newspaper	on	10	September	2020.	

A	series	of	workplace-based	actions,	
including Morning Tea Meetings, Wear Red 
Wednesdays, and timesheet snapshots took 
place in the early months of the campaign to 
build member engagement. 

In the political space, Union delegates and 
officials	met	with	Minister	for	Child	Protection,	
Simone McGurk to brief her on critical 
Every Child Counts campaign issues. While 
engagement	was	positive	and	delegates	felt	
heard,	it	was	evident	that	further	campaign	
action	was	required	to	obtain	a	clear	
commitment from the government to deliver 
the outcomes sought through the campaign.



Sally McManus (Secretary, ACTU) meets with 
Child Protection members in Fremantle
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Toward	the	end	of	2020,	it	became	apparent	that	our	
anticipated leverage to secure campaign outcomes in 
the lead up to the WA State Election had diminished, 
in	no	small	part	due	to	the	overwhelming	popularity	of	
Premier	McGowan	arising	from	his	leadership	through	
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Consequently,	we	spent	the	early	part	of	2021	
reconsidering and reorienting our campaign strategy 
by	working	closely	with	delegates.	The	revised	plan	has	
a	renewed	focus	on	recognising	and	utilising	member	
collective	power,	and	maps	out	escalating	peak	actions	
that	will	mark	our	path	to	victory.	

We	also	refined	our	campaign	asks	from	five	to	two.	
The Every Child Counts campaign	now	seeks	the	
adoption	of	the	following	principles	to	underpin	the	
resourcing	of	an	effective	CPFS	system:

One child equals one case 
At present, a case can consist of one child or multiple 
children,	each	with	their	own	complex	individual	issues	
and	needs.	Each	child	having	their	own	case	would	
better	reflect	the	volume,	diversity	and	complexity	of	
work	being	undertaken	within	a	family.

Every child with an open case should have their own 
dedicated caseworker 
Children	and	families	experiencing	issues	of	sufficient	
concern	as	to	require	them	to	have	an	open	case	with	
the Department should be allocated to a dedicated 
caseworker.	The	number	of	unallocated	open	Child	
Protection cases has been hovering around 1000 
cases	for	an	extended	period	of	time,	which	is	of	deep	
concern. The Department should plan to have no or 
minimal unallocated cases.

In	May	2021	we	reinvigorated	the	campaign	with	
paid union meetings held all around the state. 
ACTU	Secretary	Sally	McManus	attended	the	first	
union meeting in Fremantle. Sally spoke about the 
importance	of	workers	displaying	power	in	their	
workplaces	and	turning	that	power	into	a	tool	to	win.	
Hundreds	of	workers	attended	these	meetings	and	
committed to joining the campaign and taking actions 
in	their	workplace.	These	included	a ‘Workload Survey’ 

and ‘Share Your Stories’ initiative the latter of these 
was	inspired	by	some	courageous	delegates	who	
wrote	an	open	letter	to	the	Union	highlighting	major	
concerns	in	their	District.	This	letter	was	picked	up	
by	the	ABC	in	May	2021	and	led	to	media	interviews	
with	Branch	Secretary	Rikki	Hendon;	subsequent	
responses and comments made by Lindsay Hale from 
the	Department;	and	former	Police	Commissioner 
Karl O’Callaghan.

Ambition in focus: 60 new delegates recruited in 
breakthrough campaign areas.

In	the	2020/21	financial	year	30	new	delegates	were	
recruited in the Child Protection cohort of Department 
of Communities, covered by the Breakthrough team. 
This takes total delegates in Child Protection to 85, and 
represents	a	47%	increase,	with	a	ratio	of	1	delegate	for	
every 15 members.
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NO TRANSPARENCY, NO TRUST
Inadequate	resourcing	of	Child	Protection	was	not	the	only	challenge	within	
the	Department	of	Communities	in	the	2020/21	financial	year.	Relentless	
organisational change impacted members from across the breadth of the 
Department,	with	the	Union	receiving	80	formal	Notifications	of	Change	
from	the	Department	of	Communities	in	2020	alone.	Of	note	were	two	major	
changes	-	a	Functional	Review	of	all	‘non-frontline’	positions,	and	the	Cabinet	
decision to transfer land assets and positions from Housing to Development 
WA.	Both	decisions	were	made	with	little	to	no	consultation	with	workers	and	
the	Union,	which	led	us	to	launching	a	very	short	and	sharp	campaign	called	
‘No Transparency, No Trust.’

No	Transparency,	No	Trust	was	targeted	at	the	Department’s	senior	decision	
makers	and	focused	on	the	lack	of	respect	afforded	to	the	Union	and	
workers,	exemplified	by	the	breaches	of	the	consultation	provisions	in	our	
industrial instruments. 

Ambition in focus: 75% of members in breakthrough campaign cohorts 
participate in campaign action.

Members and potential members engaged in action by putting up campaign 
material	in	their	workplaces,	attending	mass	members	meetings	and	joining	
the	Union.	One	meeting	in	the	Department’s	head	office	in	Fremantle	
attracted	hundreds	of	people,	causing	the	conference	room	in	which	the	
meeting	was	booked	to	overflow	and	Microsoft	Teams	to	hit	its	maximum	
participant capacity.

As	a	result	of	member	action	and	industrial	intervention,	the	Department	was	
forced	to	consult,	with	two	sub-JCCs	being	formed	and	issues	being	addressed.	

OTHER ISSUES
Implementation of the disciplined, focused approach envisaged in the 
development of the Breakthrough campaigns concept has been challenged 
by the need to address numerous other collective matters arising in the 
Department of Communities.

In	addition	to	those	which	precipitated	the	‘No	Transparency,	No	Trust’	
campaign, some notable matters arising included:

• Proposed	declassification	of	Specified	Callings	positions	within	the	
Department	with	Screening	Assessors	positions	in	the	Working	with	
Children	Screening	Unit;

• Flawed	consultation	processes	and	unfair	changes	to	rosters	in	Disability	
Services	group	homes	and	the	Crisis	Care	Unit;

• Underpayment in Residential Care.

The Breakthrough campaigns team has responded to these challenges by 
allocating	an	organiser	from	within	the	team	to	triage	incoming	matters,	refer	
where	appropriate	and	work	with	members	and	delegates	to	address	the	
issues	directly	where	necessary.
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Delegate LedLed
ESTABLISHING THE DELEGATE LED MODEL

One of the key focus areas of the strategic plan over the past year has been the development and implementation 
of the Delegate Led model

Strong	workplace	delegates	are	critical	to	ensuring	union	leadership	is	present	and	visible	in	the	workplace	
every day. They are core to union strength being felt by members and employers alike. 

Lasting	union	strength	comes	from	union	communities	that	thrive	in	workplaces,	led	by	local	leaders.	Building	that	
requires	deliberate	and	ongoing	focus	on	developing	delegates	to	lead	in	the	workplace.	

The	Delegate	Led	model	of	organising	combines	focused	resourcing	to	ensure	delegates	are	coached	and	empowered	
to	lead	members	to	resolve	issues	in	their	workplace.

The	purpose	of	the	Delegate	Led	model	is	to	provide	structures	and	experiences	which	motivate	delegates	to	take	
responsibility	for	the	outcomes	in	their	workplace	by	building	and	leveraging	the	power	of	purposeful	relationships	
with	their	colleagues.	In	doing	this,	we	will	grow	the	base	of	members	who	have	a	lived	experience	of	what	it	takes	to	
win	by	being	union	in	the	workplace.

Through	building	new	relationships,	identifying	and	developing	the	skills	and	capacity	of	members	and	delegates	and	
creating	enabling	structures	which	respond	to	delegates’	needs,	we	are	starting	to	see	more	workplaces	where	issues	
are	resolved	at	a	workplace	level	through	collaboration,	group	strategy	and	action.	Delegates	are	exercising	their	
leadership	to	nurture	and	maintain	relationships,	create	lasting	connections	and	build	stronger	union	workplaces.

THE MODEL IN ACTION

Transport

Ambition in focus: 70% of delegates recruit members.

A	fantastic	example	of	the	Delegate	Led	organising	
approach in action happened earlier this year at the 
Customer	Contact	Centre	at	Tassels,	which	is	part	of	
the Department of Transport.

The	Department	was	attempting	to	drastically	change	
the	working	conditions	of	members	without	consulting	
with	staff.

The	worksite	had	historically	low	membership	and	
workplace	activity	at	the	time.	

After	speaking	with	an	organiser,	a	delegate	stepped	
up	to	work	on	the	issue,	firstly	speaking	to	individual	
workers	then	circulating	a	survey.	The	results	of	the	
survey	were	collated	by	the	delegate	and	from	this	a	
series	of	paid	union	meetings	were	organised.

The delegate organised and promoted the meetings 
and at the meeting they used the delegate 
representational rights presentation and ‘story of self’ 
skills learned from delegate training to talk to their 
colleagues	about	the	issues	in	the	workplace.	After	the	
meeting	the	delegate	recruited	7	new	members	and	
3	new	delegates,	improving	the	power	of	the	Union	to	
collectively	resolve	issues	in	the	workplace.

WA Police

Ambition in focus: All EDCs and JCCs are led by 
delegates by December 2022.

The	WA	Police	delegate	team	also	built	power	
in	their	workplaces	and	across	the	agency	to	
tackle challenges and opportunities over the past 
financial year.

This included taking responsibility for consulting 
with	members,	representing	members	in	workplace	
meetings, holding paid union meetings at their 
workplaces	and	recruiting	new	members.	The	
delegate	group	has	been	working	together	in	
Electorate Delegates Committee meetings (EDCs) 
and	taking	a	planned	team	approach	at	the	Joint	
Consultative	Committee	(JCC),	using	briefing	papers	
to ensure they make the best possible strategic use of 
this forum.
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Banksia Hill

Ambition in focus: 70% delegates mobilise members 
to take action by December 2022.

Over the last 12 months delegates at Banksia Hill 
Detention	Centre	(BHDC)	have	made	significant	steps	
towards	achieving	a	strong,	informed	and	active	
Union	workplace.

BHDC has a long history of critical and violent 
incidents.	Safety	at	work	is	a	key	issue	of	importance	
for members at the Centre.

Delegates	work	closely	with	the	young	people	
detained	at	BHDC	and	they	know	that	critical	incidents	
only serve to disrupt the lives of detainees. Delegates 
know	it	is	impossible	to	deliver	quality	education	and	
care	programs	for	young	people	in	detention	without	
having	an	orderly	and	safe	Centre	for	both	staff	and	
detainees. 

It	became	apparent	to	Youth	Custodial	Officer	(YCO)	
members	during	the	year	that	staffing	levels	at	BHDC	
had	fallen	to	a	level	where	safety	within	the	Centre	
had become compromised.

In April and May of this year assaults became so 
frequent	and	serious	that	delegates	were	concerned	
further	deterioration	would	occur	and	that	this	would	
seriously disrupt the ordinary running of BHDC. At 
worst	this	could	result	in	another	Centre-wide	riot	
which	would	be	a	serious	threat	to	the	safety	of	both	
YCOs and detainees.

The delegate group came together to devise a 
strategy, centred around a Delegate Led approach, 
to	address	the	many	issues	that	were	preventing	the	
Centre being safe for them and the young people 
they support.

In	the	first	collective	action	they	undertook,	80	YCO	
members submitted OSH hazard notices to highlight 
the	risks	YCOs	were	facing	from	assaults.	They	also	
specifically	requested	enhanced	input	from	support	
services at site, such as Psychiatric Services, as 
a	proposed	solution	in	their	notices.	This	drew	a	
response from management at BHDC and a meeting 
was	held	with	the	Superintendent	in	November	of	
2020 to address the assaults.

Although	there	was	some	positive	reaction	from	
management on the issue, the key issues of safety 
were	not	addressed	and	there	was	a	significant	
escalation of serious assaults. 

BHDC	delegates	knew	that	the	under-staffed	Centre	
was	heavily	reliant	on	the	goodwill	of	members	going	
above	and	beyond	their	JDF	and	job	role	to	function.
Therefore, at a series of Union member meetings, 
members	resolved	to	take	low-level	workplace	action	

focussing	on	the	removal	of	this	goodwill	in	order	
to	secure	a	meeting	with	the	Director	General	of	
the	Department	of	Justice	and	the	Commissioner	of	
Corrective Services to discuss safety at the Centre.

Guided by delegates, members undertook to 
collectively start shifts at 7:15am/pm on-the-dot 
instead	of	earlier,	which	they	had	previously	been	
doing	out	of	goodwill	to	ensure	a	smooth	shift	
handover. This created a ‘bottleneck’ at the gatehouse 
each	morning	with	some	members	reporting	to	their	
rostered section up to half an hour later. Further, it 
affected	unlock	hours	and	programmes	at	the	Centre,	
such as education. While members from the education 
unit	were	fully	supportive	of	the	action,	this	particular	
effect	of	the	action	gained	the	attention	of	head	office	
but did not elicit an adequate response.

Consequently, members took further collective 
action,	voting	to	support	the	voluntary	staff	trainers	
withdrawing	their	training	programmes	on	Wednesday	
afternoons.	While	externally	provided	training	still	
occurred,	the	removal	of	this	measure	of	goodwill	
reduced the reportable training and again gained the 
attention	of	head	office.

Following	these	actions,	members	gained	a	meeting	
with	their	Deputy	Commissioner,	Director	General	
and the Commissioner of Corrective Services. At the 
meeting delegates presented a series of asks, aimed 
at keeping the Centre safe for them and the young 
people in their care.

The	immediate	outcome	of	discussions	with	the	
Director	General	and	the	Commissioner	were	that	the	
BHDC	began	operating	with	an	increased	ratio	of	staff	
and reasonable measures to establish and maintain 
the stable operation of the Centre. 

Since	then	the	Department	of	Justice	has	agreed	to	a	
comprehensive list of positive actions including:

• The formation of the Banksia Risk Group, chaired 
by	the	Commissioner;

• Meeting daily to implement measures to 
immediately	improve	the	Centre	with	resources	
drawn	from	across	the	Department;	and

• A project group to implement the Model of Care 
as	soon	as	possible	with	staff	and	Union	input;	
and

• Increasing	the	staffing	ratio.

A Delegate Led approach has made BHDC a safer and 
more	orderly	centre	which	has	led	to	better	outcomes	
for	the	kids	and	staff.	There	is	now	an	ongoing	
dialogue	between	all	delegates	at	the	centre,	the	
Commissioner and Director General about the long-
term measures and investments required to enhance 
youth detention management in this state.
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Member SupportSupport
ESTABLISHING THE MEMBER SUPPORT MODEL

The	Member	Support	model	was	developed	in	the	2020/21	financial	year	to	deliver	the	core	Union	experience	for	
CPSU/CSA members.

Developed	collaboratively	by	staff	from	Organising,	Learning	and	Development,	Communications	and	Engagement,	
UnionLink	and	Industrial	Services,	the	model	seeks	to	harness	the	full	breadth	of	the	capabilities	within	our	
organisation	to	deliver	on	two	key	value	propositions:

1. Why	would	somebody	want	to	join	the	Union?

2. Why	would	somebody	want	to	stay	a	member	of	the	Union?

The	Member	Support	roadmap	steps	out	pathways	by	which	the	Union	will	welcome	new	members,	engage	existing	
members	and	empower	delegates	under	the	model.	Distinct	roles	and	deliverables	are	articulated	for	each	functional	
area	within	the	Union’s	staffing	structure.

On	the	far	left	side	of	the	roadmap,	the	method	for	communicating	the	value	proposition	for	why	somebody	would	
want	to	become	a	member	of	this	union	is	defined;	what	we	say	about	the	value	of	union	membership,	how	we	
engage	potential	members	in	this	dialogue	and	how	we	make	the	experience	of	joining	their	union	a	worthwhile	and	
rewarding	choice.

The	central	column	of	the	roadmap	addresses	member	engagement	and	the	value	proposition	for	why	an	individual	
should	remain	a	member	of	the	Union,	with	an	emphasis	on	creating	value	and	delivering	outcomes	for	members.	
Key	services	and	comprehensive	online	resources,	developed	and	delivered	utilising	the	breadth	of	the	Union	staff’s	
expertise,	create	value	for	members	by	enabling	them	to	access	the	advice,	information	and	tools	they	need,	when	
they need it.
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Similarly, a cross-organisation approach facilitates 
the delivery of outcomes for members across eight 
key areas:

1. Change	management	(coverage	for	Notifications 
of Change)

2. EBA negotiations
3. Responding to individual matters
4. Building union strength
5. Delegate development
6. Proactively	engaging	members	on	key	whole-of-

sector issues
7. Defending the industrials rights and entitlements 

of members
8. Political advocacy

The right side of the road map articulates the 
mechanisms	for	connecting	members	with	their	
delegates	and	empowering	delegates	to	be	workplace	
leaders. The Member Support model provides delegates 
with	strategies	and	access	to	the	union	resources	that	
empower	them	to	deal	with	issues	in	their	workplace	and	
achieve	outcomes	that	build	member	power.

TRANSITIONING AGENCIES TO 
THE MEMBER SUPPORT MODEL
Members in the 90+ agencies not actively organised 
prior	to	2020	were	not	receiving	the	support,	guidance	
and	strength	they	needed	to	build	member	power.	The	
Member Support model seeks to address this gap for 
those cohorts.

Essential to the successful implementation of the Member 
Support	model	was	working	with	delegates	and	members	
in agencies traditionally serviced by an agency organiser 
and not best placed for Delegate Led organising or 
Breakthrough campaigning. To this end, the Union formed 
a	purpose-built	transition	team	comprising	staff	with	
organising, industrial, communications and professional 
development	experience.

The	transition	team	worked	closely	with	delegates	in	24	
agencies through the second half of 2020 to enhance 
the	skills,	knowledge	and	confidence	of	individuals	and	
delegates	to	provide	union	leadership	in	their	workplaces.	

Tailored	transition	plans	were	developed	and	implemented	
in	each	agency,	which	also	provided	feedback	essential	to	
finessing	the	Member	Support	model	more	broadly.	The	
focus increasingly pivoted to delegate development and 
coaching as the year progressed. 

A	multi-faceted	approach	saw	an	extended	range	of	
online resources provided to delegates backed by 
coaching,	small	group	training	on	specific	skills,	and	
peer	to	peer	support.	Two	rounds	of	special	joint	EDCs	
in	the	second	half	of	2020;	specific	training	in	chairing	
meetings;	learnings	in	policy	review;	and	representation	
at	member	meetings	with	management	all	bolstered	the	
already impressive skill sets of delegates in this cohort. 

The development of resources, and the broad range 
of skills in the transition team, facilitated the relatively 
smooth transition of delegates moving to the Member 
Support	model	and	was	key	to	helping	them	feel	supported	
and	confident	in	their	role	under	the	changed	structure.	

One	important	element	in	the	transition	was	the	sharing	
of delegate-created tools, resources and approaches 
between	delegate	groups.	This	has	been	one	of	the	most	
successful	elements,	with	delegates	being	able	to	learn	
and	benefit	directly	from	the	experience	of	their	peers.	
For	example,	the	Department	of	Health	delegates	were	
able	to	use	the	JCC	Briefing	Note	template	created	by	
delegates at the Department of Water and Environmental 
Regulation,	to	get	a	long-standing	JCC	issue	resolved.	

Targeted training and coaching in running EDCs, and 
participating	in	JCCs,	saw	delegates	who	may	not	have	
previously taken lead roles step up and have a go. This 
inspired	confidence	in	other	delegates	and	established	
pathways	for	resolving	workplace	issues	without	formal	
union intervention.

The	Delegates	Chat	peer	support	network	for	delegates	
in Member Support agencies has been an invaluable 
avenue	for	delegates	to	quickly	check	in	and	scan	what	is	
happening across the sector and seek advice and support. 

Throughout	the	COVID-19	pandemic,	the	ability	to	work	
entirely	online	with	delegates,	despite	initial	challenges	
around	perceptions	of	new	technologies,	resulted	in	
strong delegate attendance at union meetings and high 
levels of engagement in online professional development 
and training. 

All	24	agencies	successfully	transitioned	to	the	new	
Member Support model in 2021.
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FOUNDATIONS FOR MEMBER 
SUPPORT
UnionLink

The UnionLink advice line operates from 8:30am – 
4:30pm Monday to Friday. UnionLink’s role is to provide 
industrial advice, assistance and support to members 
and delegates of our Union. The advice line is only 
available	to	financial	members	of	the	CPSU/CSA	Union	
and	is	an	essential	function	and	benefit	of	membership.	

UnionLink	seeks	to	empower	members	with	tools	and	
advice	so	that	they	can	resolve	their	own	matters	in	the	
first	instance.	

Our advisors provide individual advice to members 
under the Western Australian state industrial relations 
system	and	the	national	workplace	relations	system.	
They	interpret	over	30	different	workplace	agreements	
to ensure that member entitlements are protected 
and	enforced	in	the	workplace.	UnionLink	Advisors	
also	provides	practical	advice	on	resolving	workplace	
complaints and disputes.

In 2020/21, matters that UnionLink assisted and 
advocated on included:

• Disputes	regarding	Award	or	Agreement	entitlements
• Redeployment and redundancy
• Interpretation of applicable regulations and 

legislation
• Bullying and grievances
• Conversion to permanency
• Relevant Commissioners Instructions and Public 

Sector Standards
• Workload
• Fitness	for	work	and	health	matters
• Reclassification
• Employment and recruitment. 

Supporting Members

UnionLink speaks to thousands of members every 
year. It is UnionLink’s goal to ensure that members 
feel	supported	and	are	provided	with	the	appropriate	
industrial advice to make an informed decision on any 
workplace	matter.

As	UnionLink	is	the	first	point	of	contact	for	most	
members, the advice line plays a critical role in 
connecting members to the areas of the Union most 
able to meet their needs. This includes identifying 
collective concerns, matters and trends, and 
subsequently referring them to the appropriate 
Organising team and/or Organiser. UnionLink is also 
vital	in	ensuring	that	members	who	meet	membership	
qualification	are	referred	to	our	Industrial	Service	

Group for representation. These are for matters such 
as	termination	of	employment,	workers	compensation,	
allegations of a breach of discipline and retirement on the 
grounds of ill health.

Another milestone year 

The	2020/21	financial	year	was	another	milestone	year	
for UnionLink. Calls, emails, and enquiries continued to 
be high. 

Like	most	of	our	members,	UnionLink	was	required	to	
work	off-site	for	multiple	periods	due	to	COVID-19.	
Our	UnionLink	advisors	were	able	to	work	seamlessly	
during these periods to ensure that member enquiries 
continued	to	be	actioned.	UnionLink	was	required	to	act	
quickly in relation to changes to Sector Labor Relations 
circulars. These circulars outlined the applicable leave 
provisions for our members. To enable us to advise 
as	many	members	as	possible,	we	worked	with	the	
Communications and Engagement team to ensure email 
communications	were	sent	to	members	with	updates	and	
that	there	were	FAQs	available	on	our	website	to	provide	
members	with	quick	and	timely	advice.	

During	the	2020/21	financial	year,	UnionLink	assisted	
in	the	development	of	our	new	member	hub	which	
can	be	found	on	the	CPSU/CSA	website.	This	member	
hub	includes	a	resource	library	which	has	guides,	
factsheets, and FAQs on typical member enquiries. 
Advisors	were	tasked	with	either	creating	or	editing	
previous	documents	to	ensure	that	they	were	relevant,	
up	to	date	and	applicable	in	the	workplace.	This	aligns	
with	UnionLink’s	goal	to	not	only	provide	industrial	
advice/assistance to members, but to assist members in 
developing	their	own	industrial	knowledge	and	skills	for	
self-advocacy. 

UnionLink	also	staffed	an	emergency	phone	for	multiple	
periods	of	the	2020/21	financial	year,	including	over	the	
Christmas	break	and	during	the	23	April	snap-lockdown	
of	Perth	and	Peel.	This	was	to	ensure	that	members	
were	able	to	speak	to	advisors	about	COVID-19	and	any	
other emergency questions, outside our normal scope 
of	hours.	Our	members	were	performing	an	amazing	
job	supporting	the	Western	Australian	public	and	it	was	
vital	to	ensure	that	they	were	also	supported	during	that	
difficult	time.	
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RESPONDING TO MEMBER 
ENQUIRIES: QUICK QS
Critical	to	making	a	determination	about	which	incoming	
issues	are	individual	and	which	are	collective,	particularly	
in	agencies	where	organising	visits	are	infrequent,	are	
the incoming member enquiries managed by our Quick Qs 
on	the	Contact	Us	page	of	the	website.	

The Quick Qs capture all the necessary data needed 
for	staff	within	one	of	our	triaging	teams	to	determine	
whether	the	issue	is	individual	or	collective;	if	there	is	an	
opportunity	to	build	member	power	in	that	workplace	as	
a	result	of	the	issue;	what	industrial	mechanisms	may	be	
needed	to	address	the	issues;	and	how	delegates	may	
engage in developing a solution for members. 

The ability to make a quick assessment against campaign 
opportunities	and	outcomes	has	allowed	us	to	assign	
matters	to	the	right	teams	efficiently	and	effectively,	
connecting	members	with	organisers	and	industrial	
support sooner.

The Quick Qs have also served to improve our one-on-
one	contact	with	members.	The	contact	form	on	the	old	
website	was	out	of	use	for	many	years,	which	resulted	in	a	
plethora of incoming emails and phone calls to Unionlink 
that	did	not	have	enough	information	for	us	to	effectively	
help	members.	The	team	were	also	bogged	down	with	
incidental tasks such as updating phone numbers and 
changing	email	addresses,	at	the	expense	of	spending	
time	on	the	complex	cases	of	members	in	need.	

The Quick Qs use ongoing learning to map and track 
incoming enquiries and adjust and respond to members 
more	efficiently,	and	on	several	occasions,	in	real-time.	
During	the	COVID-19	outbreaks	in	February	and	June	
the	team	administering	the	form	was	able	to	redirect	
enquiries about various COVID concerns, such as 
essential	worker	classifications,	leave	provisions	and	
mask	wearing,	to	dedicated	FAQs	and	downloads.	This	
was	critical	for	two	reasons:

1. It gave members a quicker, easier access point than 
picking	up	the	phone	or	writing	out	an	email,	which	
meant	their	concerns	or	questions	were	dealt	with	
in a timely manner during a very stressful, fast 
moving time.

2. Freeing	up	the	phone	lines,	when	the	CPSU/CSA	
offices	were	also	in	lockdown,	meant	that	our	
Unionlink Advisors could balance the reduced capacity 
created	by	the	lockdown	with	giving	priority	attention	
to	calls	from	members	with	emergency	needs.	

Through the Quick Qs and redirect to the COVID-19 
FAQs, more than 4,100 members got instant access to 
their	COVID-19	related	enquiries	without	having	to	wait	
to	hear	back	over	email	or	with	a	phone	call.

WORKFLOWS
In	order	to	efficiently	and	effectively	meet	the	needs	of	
more than 5,500 members across the Member Support 
cohort,	the	Union	needed	to	review	and	refine	its	internal	
processes for responding to individual needs and 
workplace	issues.	

Previously,	incoming	workplace	issues	from	these	
agencies had been addressed on a case-by-case basis 
which	led	to	bottlenecks	and	a	scarcity	of	resources	to	
effectively	serve	member	needs.	By	patterning	dozens	
of	previous	interactions	as	case	studies	the	teams	were	
able	to	establish	10	key	workflows,	aligned	with	the	8	
delivery areas outlined in the Member Support roadmap. 

Each	workflow	outlined	a	clear	path,	with	tasks	and	
responsibilities	clearly	defined,	for	each	delivery	scenario	
-	a	template	for	addressing	member	needs	and	workplace	
issues,	without	having	to	reinvent	the	wheel	each	time.	
The	flows	pulled	together	the	capabilities	from	teams	
across the organisation to create miniature task-force 
style	groups	of	staff	from	communications,	organising,	
industrial services, learning and development, and 
member	services	as	needed,	to	cover	off	all	needs	and	
outcomes for that particular delivery area.

Assigning and tracking incoming issues against the 
appropriate	workflow	is	supported	by	an	Issues	Tracker,	
which	has	been	established	on	the	project	management	
platform,	Trello,	and	in	which	live	issues	are	reviewed	
daily	by	the	Union’s	senior	staff	and	elected	officials.

This	allowed	us	to	respond	efficiently	and	effectively	to	
the	many	and	varied	issues	which	emerge	and	impact	our	
members across the sector.

Ambition in focus: All members receive annual pay 
increases through collective bargaining.

A win for Water Corporation delegates under 
our new model

Preparations	for	negotiations	of	a	new	Water	Corporation	
Enterprise Bargaining Agreement began by utilising the 
Federal	EBA	Workflow.	The	flow	enabled	a	quick	and	
easy	assessment	of	delegate	involvement,	who	initiated	
negotiations and member capacity to act as bargaining 
representatives. 

Key delegates and bargaining representatives 
were	identified	within	a	week	and	enacting	the	flow	
commenced	in	October	2020	with	an	all-day	delegates’	
training and planning session run by the Learning 
and Development team and attended by the allocated 
Industrial	Officer.
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The training and planning session formed the foundation 
of a good bargaining strategy: 

• Ideas	for	potential	claims	were	brainstormed	and	
refined	throughout	the	day;	

• Bargaining roles, Fair Work requirements and 
various	strategies	were	discussed,	including	those	
likely	to	be	used	by	the	employer;	and

• Positive	relationships	of	the	bargaining	team	were	
formed	with	the	various	strengths	and	experiences	
of team members recognised. 

The training and planning session set the foundation for 
the	bargaining	team	to	work	as	one	unit.

Following	training,	delegates	successfully	surveyed	
members	to	develop	a	draft	log	of	claims,	which	was	
reviewed	by	the	Industrial	Officer	and	finalised	ahead	of	
negotiations.

Negotiations commenced in November 2020. Delegates 
were	well	prepared	and	made	use	of	their	training	and	
planning to take active part in discussions and continue 
to	liaise	with	members	to	support	their	claims	over	the	
following	6	months.	

The	delegates	were	leaders	in	the	bargaining	and	
achieved a great result:

• New	provisions	recognising	the	role	and	function	of	
union	delegates	in	the	workplace;

• Consultation	on	major	change	now	must	occur	
before	a	decision	is	made	affecting	employees,	
rather	than	after;

• Strengthened	Joint	Consultative	Committee	
provisions	to	make	consultation	more	effective,	
including requiring Terms of Reference to be 
developed	by	all	parties;

• Right to representation for employees subject 
to discipline, performance management and 
grievance	processes;

• Commitment	to	conversion	of	casuals	and	fixed-
term	contracts	to	permanency	after	2	years	now	
enshrined	in	the	Agreement;

• Introduction of superannuation for unpaid parental 
leave	up	to	12	weeks;

• Parental	partner	leave	doubled	to	2	weeks;
• Protection of performance increments for primary 

carers	on	parental	leave;
• Higher	duties	allowance	qualifying	period	halved	

from	76	hours	to	38	hours;
• New	adverse	conditions	allowance	for	salary	lab	

workers	exposed	to	waste;
• Compassionate	leave	increased	from	2	to	3	days;
• Performance pay scales adjusted so that employees 

meeting	requirements	of	role	now	receive	an	
increment	increase;

• New	flexible	working	arrangement	provisions	(we	
have also secured an undertaking from Water 
Corporation	to	grandfather	previous	Flexitime	
provisions);

• Home	based	work	approval	now	to	take	account	of	
employee	needs	and	preferences;

• Employees	now	able	to	take	30	hours	of	annual	leave	
in	advance;

• Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cultural Leave 
increased	from	3	to	5	days;

• 2	‘wellbeing’	days	off	per	year	-	additional	to	existing	
leave	entitlements;	and

• $3000 pay rise over 2.25 years.

Ambition in focus: 20% of delegates demonstrate they 
have taken the first steps in order to resolve issues in 
the workplace.

Empowering members with information and 
resources: Member Library 

Over the years, the Union has amassed a vast repository 
of	materials	that	are	used	by	staff	to	assist	members,	
develop delegates, engage stakeholders, and deliver 
on key outcomes in the campaigning, industrial and 
political spaces. 

In 2020 an audit of the organisation’s material resources 
was	conducted	in	three	phases.	The	first	identified	
existing	materials	directly	accessed	by	members	
and	delegates;	the	second	identified	internal	needs	
for resources that could be used to better support 
members	and	delegates;	the	third	focused	on	resource	
improvement and established a creation and revision 
process	that	ensured	materials	were	relevant,	up-to-
date	and	industrially	sound.	The	result	of	this	audit	saw	
more	than	700	pieces	of	material	reviewed	and	cross-
referenced	with	the	aim	to	provide	a	more	relevant	
package of materials to members and delegates.

From this audit, through the Project Control Group 
(PCG), the Resource Library and Resource Creation 
Framework	were	established.	The	library	catalogues	
all	of	the	organisation’s	materials	that	provide	benefit	
and	value	to	members	in	a	central	location	for	staff	and	
member access. 

A	portal	to	the	files	and	products	in	the	library	is	offered	
to	members	via	the	website	in	the	Member	Hub.	The	
library	via	the	Hub	allows	members	to	access	a	range	
of materials - templates, FAQs, guides and instructional 
pieces - to self-manage individual issues. Through 
the	delegate	access	point,	delegates	can	download	
tools	and	resources	that	will	assist	them	in	organising	
their	workplace	as	well	as	more	extensive	handbooks	
and	guides	to	help	them	tackle	workplace	issues	from	
the	point	of	identification,	through	meetings	with	
management,	to	workplace	action.
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The	Library	is	also	a	key	component	in	many	of	the	Workflows,	and	is	a	
pivotal	exit-point	from	the	Quick	Qs	-	guiding	members	towards	materials	and	
resources	that	will	address	their	needs.	

The Member Library provides a one-stop shop for members to access 
campaigning	tools	and	union	materials	for	their	workplaces	such	as	posters,	
noticeboard	pinups	and	placards;	as	well	as	important	templates,	guides	and	
recommendations	for	dealing	with	complex	workplace	issues.	

More	than	700	pieces	have	been	reviewed	to	date	to	serve	the	most	common	
member	enquiries,	which	were	determined	based	on	website	visits,	downloads	
of content from previous campaigns and incoming member inquiries. 
Hundreds	more	are	under	review	or	in	the	pipeline	for	delivery	in	the	next	
financial	year.

Full	comprehensive	guides	on	Reclassifications,	Negotiating	Federal	EBAs,	
Workers’	Compensation,	EDCs	and	JCCs,	and	Redeployment	and	Redundancy	
are	a	few	of	the	chunkier	items	on	offer.	In	addition,	there	are	factsheets	
and	action-taking	sheets	for	everyday	issues	such	as	workplace	bullying,	
understanding your rights and entitlements under Your Union Agreement, 
flexitime	factsheets	and	more.	

From	November	2020	to	the	end	of	the	financial	year	in	June,	more	than	3,000	
members	accessed	the	Member	Library	more	than	4,000	times	to	view	and	
download	materials.	



Rikki Hendon and Rod Schoneveld, 2020/21 
Budget Announcement
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Political: Engaging key stakeholdersEngaging key stakeholders

THE 2020 STATE BUDGET

The	2020	WA	State	Budget	was	
delivered on Thursday, 9 October 2020. 
Frustratingly, it did not reveal major 

investment in public sector jobs as part of 
the	McGowan	Labor	government’s	jobs-led	
recovery	from	COVID-19.	This	was	particularly	
disappointing given the pivotal role public 
sector	workers	played	in	shaping	and	
delivering WA’s response to the public health, 
social and economic challenges arising from 
the pandemic. 

The	lack	of	investment	in	public	services	was	
exemplified	by	job	cuts	in	the	Department	of	
Communities,	announced	in	the	weeks	prior	to	
the Budget. CPSU/CSA Delegate and Branch 
Councillor Rod Schoneveld, joined Branch 
Secretary Rikki Hendon, on Budget day to 
express	concern	about	the	cuts	and	highlight	
the need for investment in valued public 
services that Western Australians rely on.

The	announcement	of	a	new	Public	Sector	Wages	policy	as	part	of	the	Budget	was	also	an	unwelcome	
development.	The	new	Policy	featured	two	more	years	of	wages	outcomes	capped	at	$1000	per	annum	pro	rata,	
then	two	years	of	wages	capped	at	Perth	CPI,	subject	to	an	economic	review.	

Together	with	UnionsWA	and	other	public	sector	unions,	the	CPSU/CSA	made	numerous	representations	to	
the	government	throughout	2020	about	the	need	to	deliver	real	public	sector	wages	growth	and,	in	doing	so,	
stimulate	the	economy.	The	union	movement’s	response	to	the	Budget	was	therefore	deeply	critical	of	the	
new	Policy.	It	provided	significant	motivation	for	public	unions	to	adopt	a	new	strategic	approach	focused	on	
combining	and	demonstrating	their	collective	power,	which	manifested	in	the	formation	of	the	Public	Sector	
Alliance,	which	launched	on	8	June	2021.



Volunteers of the Public Good campaign 2020
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The Public Good

The	CPSU/CSA	joined	with	other	public	sector	
unions	in	the	2020-21	financial	year	to	lead	
The	Public	Good	campaign,	which	highlighted	
the prominent and positive role that the public 
sector	workforce	plays	in	the	lives	of	Western	
Australians. It built on the success of the Save Our 
Services	campaign,	which	campaigned	against	the	
Barnett government’s cuts to public services and 
successfully fought against privatisation.

In the lead up to the 2021 WA State Election, the 
campaign focused on engaging voters around 
supporting political candidates and parties that 
support investment in, and direct delivery of, 
public services.

Union	members	and	staff	volunteered	to	be	
involved in phone calls, letter-drops, local 
community events such as ‘Meet the Candidate’ 
and	door-knocks	in	marginal	seats.	Efforts	were	
focused	in	Bicton,	Jandakot,	Balcatta	and	Kingsley	
in	2021	and	were	well	received.	

At	the	end	of	the	financial	year,	the	campaign	had:

• 62 core volunteers
• A further 169 active event participants
• 1,118 engaged union and community 

supporters.

Unions	active	in	The	Public	Good	will	continue	to	
work	together	as	partners	in	the	Public	Sector	
Alliance	in	the	new	financial	year.

THE STATE ELECTION 
On Saturday 13 March 2021, Western Australians 
went	to	the	polls	to	elect	a	new	state	government.	
In	the	lead	up	to	election	day,	it	was	widely	
understood	that	WA	Labor	would	win	the	election	
by	a	significantly	increased	margin.	Ultimately,	
the election resulted in Labor being returned to 
government	in	a	landslide,	with	the	party	claiming	
an enormous 53 of the 59 seats in the Legislative 
Assembly and securing a rare majority in the 
Legislative Council.

Our Union had recognised for some time that the 
state	election	would	not	present	the	leverage	
anticipated prior to the COVID-19 pandemic to 
secure	political	wins	on	a	number	of	matters	
of importance to our members and our sector. 
Nevertheless,	we	did	re-articulate	the	long-held	
priorities of our Union to WA Labor as it undertook 
its election policy development process.

These included:

• Reform of the redeployment and redundancy 
framework	

• Commitment to maintaining the current size 
of	the	public	sector	workforce	over	the	term 
of government

• No mass redundancies over the term of 
re-elected government 

• Regulatory reform to remove involuntary severance 
• Permanency targets of 85% permanent public 

sector	employment	target	within	12	months	of	the	
next	term	of	re-elected	government

• Embedded permanency mechanism in all CPSU/CSA 
industrial agreements

• Strengthening anti-privatisation commitments
• Eliminating jurisdictional impediments to the 

WAIRC jurisdiction to hear breach of standard 
claims, disputes concerning public sector 
discipline and termination due to redundancy

• Safe	staffing	and	resourcing	of	Child	Protection.

WA	Labor	responded	to	our	representations	with	a	
series of election commitments immediately prior 
to the election. Commitments such as to ‘Broaden 
access	for	public	sector	workers	to	the	WAIRC’	have	
been fought for by our Union for decades and are 
warmly	welcomed.
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WA Labor Election Commitment CPSU/CSA Strategic Plan Ambitions

Reintroduce the Industrial Relations 
Reform Bill.

Secure adverse action regime in 
WAIRC jurisdiction.

Win anti bullying regime in WA jurisdiction.

Review of the Public Sector Management 
Act so it is fit for purpose in the 2020s.

Ensure	a	review	of	the	Public	Sector	
Management	Act	enables	an	empowered	
worker	voice,	and	removes	distinction	between	
public	servants	and	government	officers.

Include the mechanism for conversion to 
permanency into industrial instruments 
where appropriate.

85% of CPSU/CSA covered public sector 
workforce	is	in	permanent	employment.

2000	CPSU/CSA	covered	fixed	term	
and casual employees are converted to 
permanent by December 2022.

Redundancy and Redeployment Review: 
Hold a review under S.96B of the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994 which will 
engage relevant public sector unions as 
key stakeholders.

No further forced redundancies are 
implemented	by	the	McGowan	government.

Stop the privatisation of existing public 
sector services and where possible and 
economically beneficial to do so bring 
services back to the public sector.

Provide the opportunity for a public sector 
bid when the current Acacia contract 
expires in 2024/25.

No further privatisation of functions 
undertaken by the CPSU/CSA covered 
public	sector	workforce	will	occur	under	the	
McGowan	government.

Others,	if	fulfilled,	are	expected	to	result	in	the	achievement	of	key	CPSU/CSA	Strategic	Plan	2020	–	2022	
winning	ambitions,	or	at	least	provide	mechanisms	by	which	they	may	continue	to	be	pursued:
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INCOMING MINISTERIAL 
BRIEFINGS 
Immediately	following	the	election	in	March	2021,	
the	CPSU/CSA	scheduled	meetings	between	the	
Union’s leadership and incoming Ministers in the 
re-elected	McGowan	Labor	government.	Detailed	
briefings,	relevant	to	their	portfolios	and	aligned	with	
CPSU/CSA	members’	priorities,	were	provided	to	the	
following	Ministers:

• Deputy	Premier;	Minister	for	Health	the	Hon. 
Roger Cook MLA

• Minister for Industrial Relations the Hon. Stephen 
Dawson	MLC

• Minister for Corrective Services the Hon. Bill 
Johnston	MLA

• Minister	for	Housing	the	Hon.	John	Carey	MLA
• Minister for Finance the Hon. Dr Tony Buti MLA
• Minister for Education the Hon. Sue Ellery MLC
• Minister	for	Child	Protection;	Women’s	Interests	

the Hon. Simone McGurk MLA
• Minister for Disability Services the Hon. Don 

Punch MLA.

In	addition,	Branch	Secretary	Rikki	Hendon,	met	with	
the Leader of the Opposition, the Hon. Mia Davies 
MLA,	to	discuss	the	following	items	critical	to	the	
CPSU/CSA membership:

• Appropriately	resourcing	and	staffing	the 
public sector

• Industrial relations legislative reform
• Regional issues in the public sector.

Rikki	Hendon	also	met	with	senior	staff	within	the	Office	
of the Premier, Treasurer and Minister for Public Sector 
Management,	the	Hon.	Mark	McGowan	MLA,	to	discuss	
the	items	most	pressing	within	his	portfolio,	including	
the need to dismantle the government’s restrictive 
wages	policy.	A	direct	meeting	with	Mr	McGowan	will	
occur	in	the	new	financial	year.

The CPSU/CSA has a commitment from Ministers to 
continue	to	meet	on	atleast	a	quarterly	basis,	to	allow	
the Union to track and progress the above items of 
concern to the membership. 

YOUR UNION AGREEMENT
Public sector pay and conditions bargaining fell due 
within	the	2020-21	financial	year,	with	the	Public	
Sector (CSA) Agreement 2019 and associated satellite 
agreements	expiring	on	13	June	2021.	

Winning	on	wages	is	a	centrepiece	of	the	CPSU/CSA	
2020 - 2022 Strategic Plan and, as such, considerable 
research and contemplation has been put into 
identifying the best path to securing successful 
bargaining outcomes.

In November 2020, our Council resolved to take a 
minimalist approach to this round of bargaining and 
instead	position	ourselves	to	join	forces	with	other	
public	sector	unions	to	overcome	the	McGowan	
Labor government’s restrictive Wages Policy in 2022. 
This	decision	was	made	following	a	mass	meeting	of	
workplace	union	delegates	who,	after	much	discussion	
and	debate,	overwhelmingly	recommended	this	bold	
strategic approach.

On 2 February 2021 - less than 24 hours before the 
commencement of caretaker conventions in the lead 
into	the	WA	State	Election	-	we	received	an	offer	for	
the	abovementioned	agreements.	Consistent	with	our	
claim, it featured:

• A 12-month term
• $1000 pay rise per annum pro-rata commencing 

June	2021
• The	continuation	of	reviews	secured	but	not	

concluded in the 2019 agreements, including 
reviews	into	labour	hire	and	a	discounted	public	
transport	scheme	for	public	sector	workers.

• A	new	ongoing	‘Pathway	to	Permanency’	
conversion	process	for	fixed	term	contract 
and	casual	workers	to	be	embedded	into 
the Agreements.
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The	offer	was	accepted	in	principle	subject	to	a	
ballot of members and drafting. An online ballot of 
members	was	conducted	between	15	February	and	
19	February	2021.	Approximately	one	third	of	eligible	
members participated in the ballot and returned an 
overwhelming	94%	vote	to	accept	the	offer.

Following	members’	acceptance	of	the	offer,	the	Union	
worked	with	government	Sector	Labour	Relations	
(GSLR)	on	the	drafting	of	the	amended	and	new	clauses	
that	will	give	effect	to	this	outcome.	

Getting the drafting right is time consuming but critical 
as	it	impacts	our	capacity	to	enforce	new	provisions.	
Settling the drafting of the conversion to permanency 
clause in particular has taken some time as it is a 
brand	new	clause.	This	new	mechanism	will	be	key	
to achieving the CPSU/CSA’s Strategic Plan ambition 
to see 85% of the CPSU/CSA-covered public sector 
workforce	in	permanent	employment	by	2022.

As	at	30	June	2021,	drafting	was	overwhelmingly	
complete	and	GSLR	had	sought	final	endorsement	
from the Minister for Industrial Relations regarding 
the	major	drafting	changes.	It	is	expected	that	we	will	
finalise	minor	technical	drafting	matters	and	proceed	
to	registration	early	in	the	new	financial	year.

Ambition in focus: Secure an improved wages policy 
that facilitates outcomes exceeding Perth CPI.

The Public Sector Alliance

The acceptance of a 12-month Agreement has 
enabled	our	Union	to	align	its	bargaining	cycle	with	
six	other	public	sector	unions.	This	presents	a	critical	
opportunity	for	us	to	join	forces	with	those	unions	and	
utilise	our	collective	power	to	campaign	for	an	end	to	
the	WA	State	Labor	government’s	restrictive	wages	
cap.	We	have	been	working	now	for	some	time	with	
those unions to formalize our alliance and plan our 
shared path to victory.

On	Tuesday	8	June,	the	participating	unions	formally	
launched	our	Public	Sector	Alliance	with	an	event	at	
the	offices	of	State	School	Teachers’	Union	of	WA.	
CPSU/CSA	Vice	President,	Lewis	Stevens,	was	one	of	
two	member	leaders	who	spoke	at	the	event	and	made	
a	contribution	of	which	our	Union	can	be	immensely	
proud.	Following	the	speeches,	Branch	Secretary	Rikki	
Hendon	was	pleased	to	formally	sign	on	to	the	Public	
Sector Alliance Statement on behalf of our Union.

The	launch	attracted	significant	media	attention,	
including a lengthy opinion column in The West 
Australian on 3 June	and	a	detailed	report	on	Nine	
News	on	the	9 June.	The	work	of	the	Alliance	will	
initially be focused around the WA State Budget, 
which	will	be	handed	down	on	9	September	2021.
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INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP

The Industrial Services Group (ISG) advocates for member entitlements 
and rights, proper standards of probity and procedural fairness in 
performance and disciplinary matters. 

ISG also protects collective industrial rights and negotiates agreements, 
including but not limited to the Your Union Agreement. 

Ambition in focus: Secure delegate advocacy rights on behalf of members in 
all CSA Awards.

The	big	win	that	was	achieved	this	financial	year	was	improved	advocacy	
rights	for	our	delegates.	On	3	January	2021,	a	new	clause	36A	was	inserted	
to	our	Awards	to	expressly	recognise	that	union	officials,	councillors,	
union employees and delegates are legitimate representatives of individual 
members.	For	many	years	we	have	asserted	our	right	to	represent	members	
and	have	now	ensured	that	any	ambiguity	regarding	our	representational	
capacity is removed. 

We also continue to pursue improvements to delegates rights for our Federal 
members	as	well.	An	example	of	improvements	in	the	Federal	space	is	in	the	
Water Corporation Enterprise Agreement. 

Ambition in focus: Insert clause in all CSA awards for union access to 
broadcast emails.

ISG also improved our Union Facility for Union Representatives clause 
to enable delegates to carry out their roles and functions. The clause 
now	expressly	provides	that	delegates	must	have	access	to	facilities	that	
include but are not limited to email – including broadcast email facilities. 
It is imperative that our delegates have access to those facilities to freely 
communicate	with	members	and	potential	members.	

The Industrial Strategic plan also requires ISG to be involved in (among other 
things):

• Reducing	the	number	of	awards	and	collective	agreements;
• Improving	mechanisms	for	job	evaluation	and	reclassification;	and
• Promoting	anti-bullying	and	adverse	action	legislative	change,	which	is	

proposed in the Industrial Relations Amendment Bill 2020.

ISG continues to pursue these matters. 

Ambition in focus: Complete all 5 PSCA reviews and secure improvements 
to conditions.

Redeployment and Redundancy 

In	September	2020,	the	CPSU/CSA,	along	with	Government	Sector	Labour	
Relations	and	the	Public	Sector	Commission,	concluded	a	tripartite	review	of	
redeployment and redundancy processes across the public sector and tabled 
the	report	with	the	then-Minister	for	Industrial	Relations,	the	Hon.	Bill	Johnston	
MLA.	This	review	arose	out	of	Clause	50.4	of	the	previous	Public	Service	and	
Government	Officers	CSA	General	Agreement	2017	and,	given	the	extensive	
qualitative	and	quantitative	methodologies,	was	a	project	that	predominantly	
took place over the life of the Public Sector CSA Agreement 2019.

IndustrialIndustrial
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The	final	report,	titled	Peak	Consultative	Forum	Review	of	
Public Sector Redeployment and Redundancy Processes, 
delineated a series of recommendations to the Minister 
across	the	following	categories:

• Framework	Considerations
• Leadership and Collaboration 
• Education and Support.

As	this	was	a	combined	report,	it	has	carried	legitimacy	
which	assists	in	persuading	government	to	consider	
the	legislative,	regulatory	and	cultural	reform	which	is	
required to improve redeployment and redundancy in the 
sector.	This	would	otherwise	not	have	been	possible	in	a	
solely union-authored report.

The	report	will	play	a	significant	role	in	informing	the	
Ministerial	Review	under	Part	6	of	the	Public	Sector	
Management Act and Public Sector Management 
(Redeployment	and	Redundancy)	Regulations,	which	will	be	
held	in	the	new	financial	year.	The	Union	will	develop	and	
lodge	a	submission	to	the	Review	recommending	specific	
legislative and regulatory reform across areas including 
voluntary severance, targeted severance schemes and 
involuntary redundancy. Further, Branch Secretary Rikki 
Hendon	will	sit	on	the	Advisory	Group	assisting	the	Public	
Sector	Commissioner	with	the	Review.	

Discounted Public Transport Scheme 
Working Group

Throughout	2020/21,	the	Branch	Secretary,	along	with	
CPSU/CSA	Council	and	staff	representatives,	formed	
a	Discounted	Public	Transport	Working	Group	with	
representatives of Government Sector Labour Relations, 
the Public Transport Authority of Western Australia and 
the	Department	of	Treasury.	The	Working	Group	reviewed	
potential options for the Minister for Industrial Relations 
to consider regarding the delivery of a discounted public 
transport	scheme	to	the	WA	public	sector	workforce.	This	
project arose out of Clause 59 of the Public Sector CSA 
Agreement	2019	and	is	in	its	final	stages.	The	Working	
Group	will	deliver	a	report	narrowing	two	potential	options	
for	the	scheme	at	its	final	meeting	in	September	2021,	
which	will	then	be	tabled	with	the	Minister	for	his	decision.

Labour hire practices

In	May	2021	the	CPSU/CSA,	along	with	representatives	
of Government Sector Labour Relations, commenced 
work	on	the	Peak	Consultative	Forum’s	review	of	
labour hire practices across the public sector, in 
accordance	with	Clause	15.6-15.8	of	the	Public	Sector	
CSA	Agreement	2019.	The	methodology	of	this	review	
includes an assessment of quantitative data provided by 
the	Department	of	Finance,	and	qualitative	interviews	
with	a	large	sample	of	agencies,	to	examine:

• Reasons for the use of temporary labour hire rather 
than	direct	employment;	and	

• Opportunities	for	work	currently	being	done	by	
labour hire arrangements to be delivered by the 
public	sector	where	financially	viable.	

This	review	continues	to	deliver	status	reports	to	the	
Peak Consultative Forum and is on track for completion 
during the life of the replacement Agreement.

SATELLITE AGREEMENTS
Residential Colleges: Courageous members who 
stuck together and won

Residential Colleges across WA contribute to the lifeblood 
of regional communities by giving the opportunity for 
hundreds of WA families to get the best education for 
their children.

The colleges are boarding houses for students in remote 
areas	who	want	to	achieve	a	secondary	education	whilst	
staying	relatively	close	to	home.	These	home-away-
from-homes are run by a small group of dedicated public 
sector	workers	at	the	Department	of	Education,	who	had	
been	working	under	an	archaic	Industrial	Agreement	and	
Award	for	many	years.

Since the dismantlement of the Country High School 
Hostels	Authority	in	2017,	college	staff	have	been	
fighting	to	change	their	job	levels	and	conditions	with	
the Department. After coming together and committing 
to	see	the	fight	the	whole	way	through,	a	core	group	of	
delegates,	with	the	support	of	their	members,	set	about	
the	herculean	task	of	righting	historical	wrongs	to	bring	
their pay and conditions into the 21st century. Over the 
course	of	4	years	and	two	reviews	these	members	and	
delegates stayed the course and stuck together. 

In	2019,	Delegates’	hard	work,	mounting	pressure	from	
the	Union	and	finally	a	government	review	resulted	in	an	
Administrative	Arrangement,	which	laid	the	foundation	
for	a	new	Agreement	to	be	negotiated	in	2020.	Following	
these negotiations, the Department of Education 
(Residential College Supervisors) CSA Agreement 2021 
was	finally	registered	on	22	March	2021.

Together some of the things this tenacious group of union 
members	were	able	to	achieve	were;

• Annual hours of 2200 hours uncapped - scrapped!
• An entitlement to be paid overtime 
• Living onsite to be an option, not a requirement 
• Safer	shift	lengths	and	return	to	work	requirements
• Setting	wages	according	to	skills	and	experience	and	

not student numbers
• A	specified	commuted	allowance.

Our	hardworking	and	underpaid	members	have	won	a	
new	agreement	that	included	a	reclassification	of	job	
levels	to	fall	in	line	with	the	general	public	sector,	which	
meant	pay	rises	of	between	$3000	and	$30,000.	
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Operational ReportsReports
CAPACITY BUILDING

To	achieve	our	strategic	goals,	we	need	to	
understand	not	only	where	our	members	want	to	
go	but	how	they	will	get	there.	That	is	why	a	key	

focus of our strategic plan is building the capacity of 
your	professional	union	staff,	our	delegates	and	members	
by	making	sure	they	receive	the	skills	and	knowledge	
development they need to deliver. 

In	2020/21,	we	therefore	prioritised	reshaping	our	core	
delegate	training	curriculum	and	assessing	what	skill	
and	knowledge	sets	we	need	to	focus	on	to	support	
the	continued	development	of	our	more	experienced	
workplace	union	leaders.	We	have	also	dedicated	
resources	to	rethinking	how	we	deliver	this	training	to	
make it more accessible to our members right across 
the state. 

Learning and Development

The Learning and Development team provides 
professional development and training for delegates 
and members. 

The primary focus of Learning and Development is to 
educate	and	develop	our	delegates	with	practical	skills	
to build the capacity of those delegates to be strong 
advocates	and	empower	our	members	in	the	workplace.	

While	last	financial	year	was	spent	drafting	a	new	
curriculum,	this	financial	year	saw	delegates	being	
trained	under	the	new	curriculum.	The	aim	is	to	have	all	
delegates undertake this foundation course before they 
progress to our more advanced courses. The course 
covers (but is not limited to):

• Understanding delegates’ rights
• How	our	union	structure	supports	delegates
• Power	and	workplace	activism
• Building relationships 
• How	to	understand	and	resolve	issues	in	your	

workplace
• How	to	build	and	gain	commitment.

The	course,	whilst	targeted	at	delegates,	is	also	available	
to interested members. 

Towards	the	end	of	the	financial	year,	the	Learning	and	
Development team shifted their focus to:

• Creating	advanced	training	modules	for	delegates;	
and

• Planning	how	to	provide	training	in	virtual	
classroom settings.

The advanced modules that are in the development stage 
will	give	experienced	delegates	greater	capacity	and	
confidence	to	collectively	build	and	maintain	power	in	
their	workplaces.	

Ambition in focus: Delegates in regional areas access 
training at the same rates as their metro counterparts 
by 2022.

Our	training	delivery	is	state-wide.	We	deliver	courses	
based	at	the	Union	office	in	Perth,	in	regional	centres,	
in	workplaces	and	online.	We	continue	to	invest	in	
delivering regional training for members and delegates.

The COVID-19 pandemic presented a challenge to the 
provision of face-to-face classroom-based training. 
Furthermore, face-to-face delivered learning has proven 
increasingly	difficult	for	some	of	our	regional	delegates	
to attend. The Learning and Development team therefore 
spent	time	in	the	2020/21	financial	year	tailoring	the	
Delegates Day 1 and 2 course for a virtual classroom 
environment.	Delegates	will	be	able	to	undertake	the	
course	via	this	mode	of	delivery	in	the	new	financial	year.

SYSTEMS
Establishing	sound	systems	to	support	our	Union’s	work	
is	critical	to	ensuring	we	are	able	to	use	our	financial	and	
human	resources	effectively	and	efficiently.	Under	our	
strategic plan, identifying and adopting technology and 
processes	that	enable	us	to	work	faster,	smarter	and	
better is a key area of focus.

This encompasses everything from delivering a 
new	member	database	in	2021	to	determining	how	
multidisciplinary	teams	work	more	cohesively	with	
members and delegates on all the issues that arise 
across the sector. 

The	importance	of	this	work	area	within	our	Strategic	
Plan	was	brought	into	keen	focus	by	the	rapid	evolution	
of	our	working	environment,	propelled	by	the	unique	
challenges presented by COVID-19.

iMIS Upgrade and Database Improvement

June	2021	saw	the	upgrade	of	the	Union’s	membership	
database to iMIS2017. This represents the culmination 
of	several	years	of	work	aimed	at	streamlining	and	
enhancing the union’s membership administration 
processes, and taking advantage of the numerous 
digital tools available for automating, personalising and 
improving membership services. 
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Our	Union	was	one	of	the	first	two	in	Australia	to	upgrade	
with	the	help	of	the	newly	established	ACTU	Union	
Innovation	Hub	and	their	new	custom-built	iMIS	For	
Unions.	Our	experience	and	feedback	will	be	valuable	to	
other	unions	following	us	onto	iMIS	with	the	Hub	over	the	
next	2	years.	

The	upgrade	has	meant	a	change	for	staff	in	accessing	
iMIS	records,	with	iMIS	2017	being	accessible	via	the	
browser-based	Staff	Site.	This	has	meant	a	long	and	
arduous	process	of	moving	staff	processes	to	the	Site,	
and	reviewing	some	of	the	staff	processes	along	the	
way.	This	work	is	ongoing	with	the	first	phase	focused	
on business-critical functions, namely signing up and 
resigning members and taking payments. We also 
undertook	to	implement	new	privacy	guidelines	about	the	
acceptable processing and accessing of member records, 
in	line	with	the	fact	that	they	can	now	be	accessed	from	
outside	the	CPSU/CSA	network.	

Following	this	current	period	of	updating	core	processes,	
we	will	begin	exploring	the	opportunities	afforded	by	the	
new	system.	Chief	amongst	these	is	an	improved	member	
portal	which	will	allow	members	directly	carry	out	
functions online, including paying invoices and arrears, 
updating	work	details	and	so	on.	This	will	deliver	the	dual	
benefit	of	reducing	the	time	spent	by	staff	processing,	
updating and checking records, and providing a quicker, 
better	user	experience	for	members.

Other enhancements include marketing automation and 
better delivery of online services for members including 
a	new	events	management	system	and	new	member-
onboarding ‘journeys’, integration of member surveys, 
powerful	analytics	with	embedded	PowerBI	dashboards	
for	key	stats	and	tracking;	and	eventually	integration	
with	Microsoft365.	We	look	forward	to	creating	an	
integrated ecosystem of reliable, available data for 
members	and	staff	to	benefit	from.	

Website refurbishment and online strategies

Launching	the	new	CPSU/CSA	website	in	November	2020	
on	the	NationBuilder	platform	saw	the	introduction	of	
several engagement strategies aimed at capturing the 
attention	of	new	website	visitors,	increasing	awareness	
around the value of membership and nurturing potentials 
into	members	where	we	were	previously	unable	to	reach	
them.	These	bodies	of	work	utilised	the	Member	Support	
roadmap to guide strategic delivery in the online space.

Lead generation and email journeys

Key	aspects	of	the	revamped	website	are	the	homepage	
and	footer	forms	where	visitors	can	obtain	a	copy	of	a	
Union	Membership	Information	Pack	in	exchange	for	
their contact details. The info pack content highlights 
the	value	of	union	membership.	Users	who	submit	the	
form then join an automated email series to continue the 

Union’s	relationship	with	potential	members	long	after	
they	leave	the	website.

During	the	period	of	November	2020	to	June	2021,	lead	
generation	resulted	in	520	form	submissions,	885	views	
of the Union Membership Information Pack, and 160 join 
form completions — a 31% conversion rate from users 
downloading	the	info	pack	before	going	on	to	complete	
the join form.

The subsequent email journey achieved an average 
open rate of 30-52% across each individual mailing 
—	surpassing	the	global	not-for-profit	email	open	rate	
benchmark of 20.39%.

Google search marketing 

To	complement	the	lead	generation	efforts	of	organic	
visits	to	the	Union	website,	Google	Adwords	search	
marketing	was	employed	for	the	first	time	to	reach	
visitors	searching	for	union-related	keywords	across	
Google,	as	well	as	providing	the	most	direct	path	possible	
to join.

During	the	period	of	April	2020	to	June	2021,	Google	
search marketing achieved 25 join-form completions at 
a 340% return on investment — surpassing the Google 
Adwords	global	average	of	200%.	

CPSU SPSF Elections

The	CPSU	SPSF	WA	Branch	Elections	were	due	to	be	
held	in	early	2020,	but	were	repeatedly	deferred	by	the	
Australian Electoral Commission throughout the year in 
response to logistical challenges posed by COVID-19. 

In	November	2020	the	AEC	finally	commenced	the	
Election process to conduct Stage 1 of the CPSU SPSF 
WA Branch Elections. Nominations for Stage 1 of the 
elections opened on 27 November and closed on 11 
December 2020. At the close of nominations and the 
completion	of	the	Nominations	Certification	Report	there	
were	3	contested	offices.	The	AEC	advised	that	a	postal	
ballot	of	members	would	therefore	be	conducted	for	
the	offices	of	Branch	President,	Branch	Secretary	and	
Branch Assistant Secretary.

The	ballot	opened	on	21	January	2021	and	closed	on	25	
February 2021. On Monday, 1 March 2021 the Returning 
Officer	issued	the	declaration	of	results	for	the	Stage	1	
contested and uncontested positions.

Stages	2	and	3	of	the	elections	were	then	held.	The	
number	of	nominations	received	did	not	exceed	the	
number	of	positions	to	be	filled	for	either	stage,	and	
declarations	of	results	were	issued	on	the	22	April	2021	
and 20 May 2021 respectively.

The AEC’s post-election report contains a copy of the 
declaration of results for each stage of the Branch Elections 
and is included in the papers of this Annual Report.
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GOVERNANCE AND POLICY
The	following	internal	staff	policies	and	external	member-facing	policies	have	been	delivered	by	the	CPSU/CSA’s	
Policy	Implementation	and	Review	(PIR)	project,	spanning	CPSU/CSA	staff	representatives	and	officers	specialising	in	
policy	and	governance.	These	policies	have	been	ratified	by	Council	during	the	2020/21	financial	year:

Title Scope
Internal or 
external-facing

Date ratified 
by Council

Staff	Privacy	Policy 
and Procedure

Expected	employee	behaviours	to	
support the CPSU/CSA’s compliance 
with	the	Privacy	Act	1988	(Cth)	and	the	
Australian Privacy Principles as an 
APP entity

Internal	(staff) 23/06/2021

CPSU/CSA Privacy Policy

Outlines	how	the	CPSU/CSA	collects,	
stores,	uses,	discloses	or	otherwise	
manages the personal information of our 
members or other individuals

External-facing	
(membership and 
general public, 
published on 
the	website)

23/06/2021

Performance 
Management Policy 
and Procedure

To facilitate and promote the 
achievement of the employer’s aims 
and	objectives,	in	accordance	with	
the	Strategic	Plan,	through	effective	
employee performance management

Internal	(staff) 28/04/2021

CPSU/CSA 
Mental Health Policy

Sets out the employer’s commitment to 
manage	the	mental	health	and	wellbeing	
of its employees

Internal	(staff)  25/11/2020

Discipline Policy 
and Procedure Relates to employee misconduct Internal	(staff) 25/11/2020

Absenteeism Policy 
and Procedure

Identify	measures	to	increase	work	
attendance, improve the impact of 
unplanned absences on the Union, and 
improve	staff	morale

Internal	(staff) 23/09/2020

Grievance Policy 
and Procedure

The resolution of grievances in the 
workplace	in	a	fair,	equitable	and	prompt	
manner	and	in	accordance	with	the	
principles of procedural fairness

Internal	(staff) 23/09/2020

Discrimination and 
Unacceptable 
Workplace Conduct 
Policy and Procedure

Providing a safe, family-friendly and 
respectful environment for employees and 
members	which	is	free	from	all	forms	of	
inappropriate	workplace	conduct

Internal	(staff) 23/09/2020
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CSA CENTRE AND BUILDING MANAGEMENT
The	CSA	Centre	at	445	Hay	Street,	Perth	is	owned	
outright	by	the	CSA	and	is	a	source	of	financial	security	
and ongoing income. 

The commercial vacancy rate in the City of Perth during 
the	2020/21	financial	year	was	estimated	at	18%,	
down	from	the	previous	year	of	18.5%.	Based	on	these	
figures	the	90.4%	occupancy	rate	of	the	CSA	Centre	
at	the	close	of	the	2020/21	financial	year	is	a	positive	
outcome.	Although	income	from	rents	and	outgoings	was	
significantly	down	on	budget	due	to	the	ongoing	impact	
of COVID-19 on the business of some of our tenants, 
most	have	been	retained	and	several	have	renewals	due	
in	the	coming	financial	year.	We	also	welcomed	a	new	
tenant, The Circle Green.

This leaves 253sqm available for lease on the ground 
floor,	with	a	further	350sqm	available	on	level	3.	Our	
efforts	to	attract	new	tenants	to	occupy	these	vacant	
spaces	will	continue	into	the	new	financial	year.	

With the completion of some minor renovations to push 
to	level	6,	we	are	now	focusing	on	utilising	the	sixth	floor	
for	commercial	income.	The	concept	is	to	allow	members	
and the public to utilise the venue for celebrations such 
as	wedding	receptions,	birthday	parties	etc.	as	well	as	
training	and	conferences	during	times	when	it	is	not	
required	for	our	own	use.	There	are	also	opportunities	for	
local hotels that need additional capacity to hold larger 
conferences and other events on the premises.

Council also granted approval to install solar panels to 
the	main	roof	of	the	CSA	Centre,	which	will	save	energy,	
lower	costs	and	further	improve	the	commerciality	of	the	
premises.	These	works	will	be	completed	early	in	the	new	
financial	year.

operational reports

CSA Building
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Office Holder Movement 
1st July 2020 to 30th June 2021 

 
 
Branch Officers 
Rikki Hendon   Branch Secretary New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Melanie Bray Branch Assistant Secretary New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Brian Dodds Branch President  Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Matthew Abrahamson Branch President  New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Bruce Hawkins Branch Treasurer Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
John Lamb Branch Treasurer New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Matthew Abrahamson  Vice President Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Becky Anderson Vice President New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Lewis Stevens Vice President New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 
 

  

Councillors  
Communities Graham Thompson New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 Grant Sutherland Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
 Anna Tay Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
 Rod Schoneveld New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 Bernie Andrews Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
 Anette Bohm New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 John Hughes New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
   
Dental Health and Health Services Tracy Martin New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Education Charlie Brown New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
   
Institutes of Technology Lewis Stevens Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
 Janet Collings Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Higher, Further & Technical Education Janet Collings New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Justice Ursula Konig New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 Kurt Mayerhofer New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Mines Industry Regulation and Safety Bethany Conway New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 Alana Herbert New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Policy & Administration Guy Wroth Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
 Jeremy Mowe Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Policy, Administration & Recreation Jeremy Mowe New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Primary Industries and Regulation Phil Goulding Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Primary Industries & Regional 
Development 

Phil Goudling New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 

Schools and Regions Denise Henden Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Schools and Regional Offices Denise Henden New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
 Rhian Rees Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Transport and Main Roads Barry McAuliffe Term Expired: 1st March 2021 



 

Treasury and Finance John Lamb Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Water Industry Leanne Brown  Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Water & Environmental Regulation Leanne Reid Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Water, Environment & Conservation Leanne Reid New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Western Australian Police & 
Emergency Services 

Sam Rees New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 

 Mel Hirjee New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
   
   
Proxy Councillors  
Communities   
Education and Regional Offices  Charlie Brown  Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Mines Industry Regulation and Safety David Torr Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Policy & Administration Dennis Liddelow Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Western Australian Police & 
Emergency Services 

Nikki Theil-Harkin  New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 

 Phil Trainer New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Treasury and Finance Patrick Boyd Term Expired: 1st March 2021 
Finance, Lands and Heritage Patrick Boyd New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 
Water Industry Leanne Brown Vacated Position: 18th September 

2019 
 
 
CPSU SPSF Group Branch Delegate to Federal Council 
Rikki Hendon New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Brian Dodds Term Expired: 21st April 2021 
Kurt Mayerhofer New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Denise Henden New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Matthew Abrahamson New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
 New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 

 
 
CPSU SPSF Group Executive Committee 
Grant Sutherland Term Expired: 21st April 2021 
Denise Henden New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Kurt Mayerhofer New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Lewis Stevens New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Leanne Reid New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Jeremy Mowe New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Rod Schoneveld New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 
Anette Bohm New Term Elected: 21st April 2021 

 

 

 

Federal Vice President  
Rikki Hendon   New Term Elected: 1st March 2021 

Branch Representative to Federal Executive  
Brian Dodds Term Expired: 20th May 2021 
Matthew Abrahamson New Term Elected: 20th March 2021 



 

 
 
 
 
 
TO:  CPSU SPSF Group WA Annual General Meeting  
  CSA Executive Committee Annual General Meeting 
 
FROM:  John Lamb 
  CPSU SPSF Group Branch Treasurer 
  CSA Treasurer 
 
DATE:  28th September 2021 
 
SUBJECT: Appointment of Auditors & 2023 
 
ITEM:  6.2 
 
 
PROPOSED ACTION: 
 
 
 

 
1. That the Civil Service Association recommends to the Civil Service Association Annual General 

Meeting that Walker Wayland be appointed to audit and prepare the annual statutory financial 
reports for Civil Service Association of WA Inc for the Financial Years Ending 30 June 2022 and 30 
June 2023. 

 
 

BACKGROUND 
 

Under ROC legislation, an individual may not, starting from 2 May 2017, conduct more than 5 consecutive years 
audits, not 5 out of seven years. This does not preclude an audit firm from continuing, as long as the principal 
auditor is changed for at least two years. 
 
It was decided by the elected officials that we would only invite to tender, firms that have no connection with any 
of the current principal auditors of Anderson, Munro & Wylie in order to ensure that we can demonstrate 
complete independence.  
 
The union has met its obligations under the ROC requirements in engaging an auditor from the ROC’s list of registered 
auditors 
 
Scope of Tender 
 
Three audit firms were invited to tender and two of them did so and they are: 
 

• Armada Auditing; 
• Walker Wayland 

 
Both respondents quoted on the basis of performing final audits, working towards an agreed completion of 
Statutory Accounts for both entities in time for the September Executive, Council and AGM meetings. 
 
It should be noted that the fee quoted is also dependent on the CSA Finance team preparing and completing 
final statutory accounts for both entities. 



 

 
Ability to perform the audit in line with CPSU/CSA requirements 
 
Both audit firms submitted detailed tenders addressing the audit requirements.  Each has a portfolio of clients 
that includes unions and is familiar with the requirements of the Fair Work Act 2009. There is little to choose 
between the firms.  They both demonstrated the highest level of experience, competence and professionalism. 
 
• Walker Wayland 

 
Walker Wayland is a well-established audit firm, based in South Perth, and has a proven track record of providing 
audit services to various types of organisation, including Not For Profits, including a number  of unions. 
 
Richard Gregson, the principal auditor, spent over two decades providing audit services, along with being a 
senior partner in one of the “big four” accountancy firms and has provided audit services to a wide range of 
organisations. 
 
• Armada Auditing 

 
The team at Armada Auditing also seem to have a great deal of experience in our sector, with a number of audit 
clients across the not-for-profit sector, including unions. 
 
Nigel Dias, the audit principal, has over 14 years of audit experience across a range of practices, again including 
one of the “big four”. 
 
For further details of each firm’s experience and how they address CPSU/CSA requirements, please refer to the 
tender documents submitted by each firm. 
 
Fees 
 
Each of the firms submitted tender proposals which have been attached with this memo. The fees outline by 
each are as follows: 

 
Walker Wayland        2022        2023 
 CSA (WA) & Controlled Entities  $12,750   $13,350 
 CPSU (WA Branch)    $  3,000   $  3,150 
  
 Total      $15,750   $16,500 
 
Armada Auditing 
 CSA (WA) & Controlled Entities  $14,000   $14,000 
 CPSU (WA Branch)    $  3,000   $  3,000 
  
 Total      $17,000   $17,000 

 
Recommendation 
 
Both of the audit firms have the required knowledge and experience and there is very little to separate them on 
a value for money basis (i.e. qualitative and pricing comparison) other than a small variance on price. The slightly 
lower price, plus the fact that Richard Gregson of Walker Wayland took the time to meet with Simon Turner to 
discuss the needs of the union means that the recommendation is that we appoint Walker Wayland as our 
auditors for the two years in question. 
 
John Lamb 
Treasurer 
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